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APPENDIX 4E 

Preliminary Final Report 
for the year ended 30 June 2010 

 
 

Name of Entity:  EDT Retail Trust (formerly known as Macquarie DDR Trust) 
 

Results for announcement to the market 

 $A'000

 
Total Income net of property expenses* 
 

 
Up 110.3%

 
to 

 
75,719

     
 
Loss from ordinary activities after tax 
attributable to members** 
 

 
Up 99.4%

 
to 

 
(3,411)

     
 
Loss for the period attributable to members** 
 

 
Up 99.4%

 
to 

 
(3,411)

    
 
Core Earnings*** 
 

 
Down  58.7%

 
to 28,402

  
 
Distributions 

 
Amount per unit 

 
Tax deferred 

distribution per 
unit 

Current Period: 
Final distribution 
Interim distribution 
Total  

0.00¢
0.00¢
0.00¢ 0.00¢

Previous Corresponding Period: 
Final distribution 
Interim distribution 
Total 

0.00¢
0.00¢
0.00¢ 0.00¢

  
Record date for determining entitlements to 
the distribution 

N/A 
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*Total income is net of property expenses and has increased by 110.3% largely due to: 

• Property valuation losses of $5.1 million compared to losses of $781.5 million in the 
prior year; and  

• Net foreign currency gains of $5.2 million (in prior year $35.5 million net foreign 
currency losses were included within expenses on the Income Statement) 

• The consolidation of US LLC from 19 October 2009, after which US LLC 
management base fees, interest expense, borrowing cost amortisation and 
other expenses were moved from equity accounted profits / (losses) within the 
income line to expenses. 

• Net loss from derivative financial instruments included in equity accounted 
profits of $3.0 million compared to a loss of $14.4 million in the prior year due to 
the cancellation of swaps and forward foreign exchange contracts. 

 
** Loss for the period has decreased by 99.4% primarily due to these factors: 

• Property valuation losses of $5.1 million compared to losses of $781.5 million in 
the prior year; and 

• Net loss from derivative financial instruments (including amounts within equity 
accounted profits / (losses)) has decreased by $16.5m from $37.8m in prior year  
to $21.3m in current year 

• A $177.1m tax benefit in the prior year driven by property revaluations and the 
subsequent reversal of a deferred tax liability. 

• Property sales by US LLC of 5 properties in the current year and 9 properties in 
prior year 

• Net foreign currency gains of $5.2 million in the current year compared to net 
foreign currency losses of $35.5 million in the prior year 

 
*** Core earnings represents the net profit of the Trust after adjusting for certain 
unrealised and non-cash items, reserve transfers and significant one off items that are 
not in the ordinary course of business.   A reconciliation of the Loss for the year to Core 
earnings is provided in Note 24 of the financial statements.  Core earnings have 
decreased by 58.7% partly due to property sales in the prior and current year. During the 
year US LLC sold 5 properties. In the prior year 9 properties were sold. 

 
 
As a result of the DDR redemption, the investments in US REIT I, US REIT II and US LLC were 
consolidated by EDT from 19 October 2009. Prior to this these investments were jointly 
controlled and were therefore equity accounted. Refer to note 1(b) of attached financial 
statements. 
Refer to the attached Income Statement, Statement of Comprehensive Income, Statement 
of Financial Position, Statement of Changes in Equity and Statement of Cash Flows for further 
detail of EDT’s results. 

Details of Distributions 
There were no distributions declared or paid for the year ended 30 June 2010.   
 
Refer attached financial statements (Directors’ Report and Note 5:  Distributions Paid and 
Proposed).   
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Details of Distribution Reinvestment Plan  
The Trust has established a distribution reinvestment plan (DRP) under which unitholders 
may elect to have all or part of their distribution entitlements satisfied by the issue of 
new units rather than being paid in cash. As permitted under the DRP Rules, the 
directors of the Responsible Entity suspended the Trusts’ DRP commencing with the 
quarter ended 30 September 2006. The DRP was reinstated for the quarter ended 30 
June 2008.   The Trust has not declared any distributions for the years ended 30 June 
2010 and 30 June 2009. 

Statement of Retained Earnings 
Refer attached financial statements (Note 17: Accumulated Losses) 

 

Net Tangible Assets 

 
 

Current period 
 

Previous 
corresponding 

period 
 
Net tangible asset backing per ordinary 
unit * 

$0.12 $0.38

 

* Under the listing rules NTA Backing must be determined by deducting from total tangible 
assets all claims on those assets ranking ahead of the ordinary securities (ie, all liabilities, 
preference shares, outside equity interests etc). 
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Control gained or lost over entities during the period 

Name of entity (or group of entities) over which control was 
gained 
 

US LLC, US REIT I, US REIT II 
 

Date control was gained 19 October 2009 
 

Consolidated profit (loss) from ordinary activities and 
extraordinary items after tax of the controlled entity (or 
group of entities) since the date in the current period on 
which control was acquired 
 

$(15,977,321) 

Profit (loss) from ordinary activities and extraordinary items 
after tax of the controlled entity (or group of entities) for the 
whole of the previous corresponding period 

 
$(577,088,259) 

 
Name of entity (or group of entities) over which control was 
lost 
  

N/A 

Date control was lost N/A 
 

Consolidated profit (loss) from ordinary activities and 
extraordinary items after tax of the controlled entity (or 
group of entities) for the current period to the date of loss of 
control 

 
$N/A 

Consolidated profit (loss) from ordinary activities and 
extraordinary items after tax of the controlled entity (or 
group of entities) while controlled during the whole of the 
previous corresponding period 
 

 
$N/A 

Details of Associates and Joint Venture entities 
Refer attached financial statements (Note 10 Interest in jointly controlled entities). 

Other significant information 
• As a result of the DDR redemption, the investments in US REIT I, US REIT II and US LLC 

were consolidated by EDT from 19 October 2009. Prior to this date these investments 
were equity accounted and their results reported within the Share of net loss from 
investments in jointly controlled entities of the Income Statement. Refer to note 1(b) of 
the attached financial statements. 

• On 18 June 2010 the Trust announced the successful completion of the 
recapitalisation, with the combined proceeds from the placement and entitlement 
offer of $208 million subsequently used to repay all unsecured debt facilities and 
unsecured derivative contracts and to reduce the Revolver facility. As a result of the 
recapitalisation, EPN became the largest unitholder of the Trust holding approximately 
47.8% of the outstanding units on issue at 18 June 2010. In addition, EPN also finalised 
the acquisition of Macquarie’s 50% interest in Macquarie DDR Management LLC (the 
owner of the Responsible Entity). 

Accounting standards used by foreign entities 
N/A 
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Commentary on results 

 
 

Current period 
 

Previous 
corresponding 

period 
 
Earnings per unit (0.31¢) (65.50¢)

 
Core earnings per unit* 2.61¢ 7.32¢

* Refer to Note 24 the attached financial statements for a definition of Core earnings. 
 
Movements in earnings per unit and core earnings per unit reflect the factors outlined 
on page 2 as well as the effect on weighted average units of the issue of units under 
the 18 June 2010 entitlement offer and the 22 April 2010 placement to the Cornerstone 
Investor, EPN GP, LLC. 
 
 
Returns to Unitholders:  
Distributions  

A$’000

$0

A$’000

$0

There were no cash distributions per unit in the year ended 30 June 2010 and 30 June 
2009. 
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Current period Previous 
corresponding

period
 
Significant features of operating 
performance: 
Income 
Net Property Income 
Share of net loss from investments in 
jointly controlled entities 
Property valuation losses – investment 
properties 
Interest income 
Net foreign currency gains 

A$’000

73,283

(2,785)

(99)
96

5,224

A$’000

-

(732,412)

-
119

-
Total income/(loss) net of property 
expenses 75,719 (732,293)
Expenses 
Management base fee 
Amortisation of borrowing costs 
Interest expense 
Net loss from derivative financial 
instruments 
Net foreign currency losses 
Other expenses 
Loss on sale of assets 

(4,728)
(6,112)

(41,692)

(18,278)
-

(7,034)
(344)

-
(347)

(49)

(23,444)
(35,533)
 (1,802)

-
Total expenses 
 

(78,188) (61,175)

Loss before tax  
 
Tax expense 
US withholding tax expense 
US capital gains tax benefit 
Total tax benefit/(expense) 

(2,469)

(941)
-

(941)
 

(793,468)

(1,374)
178,486
177,112

 
Loss for the year (3,410) (616,356)
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Segment results: 
Refer attached financial statements (Note 24: Segment Information). 
 
 
Performance Trends: 
Refer to Significant Features of Operating Performance Above. 
 
 
Other factors: 
Refer to Other Significant Information above. 
 
 

Audit 
This report is based on accounts to which one of the following applies: 
 

 The accounts have been audited. 
(refer attached financial statements)  The accounts have been subject to review. 

(refer attached financial statements) 
 

 The accounts are in the process of being 
audited or subject to review.  The accounts have not yet been audited or 

reviewed. 

Accounts not yet audited or reviewed 

N/A 

Audit Qualification 

N/A 
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Important Notice 

EDT Retail Management Limited (formerly known as Macquarie DDR Management Limited) (“ERML”) ABN 16 
101 743 926, AFSL 223190, is the responsible entity of EDT Retail Trust (formerly known as Macquarie DDR 
Trust) (“EDT”) ARSN 106 570 352. 

None of the entities referred to in this document is an authorised deposit-taking institution for the purposes of 
the Banking Act (Commonwealth of Australia) 1959.  

This report has been prepared for general information purposes only and is not an offer or invitation for 
subscription or purchase of, or recommendation of, securities. It does not take into account the investment 
objectives, financial situation or needs of any investor. Before making an investment in EDT, the investor or 
prospective investor should consider whether such an investment is appropriate to their particular investment 
needs, objectives and financial circumstances and consult an investment adviser if necessary.  

ERML does not receive fees in respect of the general financial product advice it may provide, however it will 
receive fees for operating EDT which, in accordance with EDT’s constitution, are calculated by reference to the 
value of the assets and the performance of EDT. 
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The Responsible Entity of EDT Retail Trust (formerly known as Macquarie DDR Trust) is EDT Retail 
Management Limited (formerly known as Macquarie DDR Management Limited), a wholly owned subsidiary of 
EDT Management LLC (formerly known as Macquarie DDR Management LLC), a company incorporated in 
Delaware and, from 18 June 2010, ultimately owned 50% by EPN GP LLC and 50% by Developers Diversified 
Reality (DDR). The Responsible Entity’s registered office and principal place of business is 1 Martin Place, 
Sydney, NSW 2000. 

The financial statements were authorised for issue by the directors on 24 August 2010. The directors have the 
power to amend and reissue the financial statements.  

Through the use of internet, we have ensured that our corporate reporting is timely and complete. All press 
releases, financial reports and other information are available on our website: www.edtretail.com
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Directors’ Report to Unitholders 

The directors of EDT Retail Management Limited (formerly known as Macquarie DDR Management Limited) (the 
Responsible Entity), the Responsible Entity of EDT Retail Trust (EDT) (formerly known as Macquarie DDR Trust), present 
their report together with the consolidated financial statements of the Trust and its controlled entities (together “the Group”) 
for the year ended 30 June 2010. 

1.  Principal activities 

The principal activity of the Group during the year was property investment. There were no significant changes in the nature 
of the Group’s activities during the year. 

2.  Directors  

The following persons have held office as directors of the Responsible Entity during the year and up to the date of this 
report: 

— Steven Guttman 
— David Spruell  
— David Oakes  
— Daniel Hurwitz 
— Alexander Berman (appointed 18 June 2010) 
— Karlis Cerbulis (appointed 18 June 2010) 
— Gregory Katz (appointed 18 June 2010) 
— Zvi Maayan (appointed 18 June 2010) 
— David Machloof (appointed 18 June 2010) 
— Luke Petherbridge (appointed 18 June 2010) 
— Simon Jones (resigned 18 June 2010) 
— Stephen Girdis (resigned 18 June 2010) 
— Scott Wolstein (resigned 18 June 2010) 
— Richard Sheppard (resigned 18 June 2010)  
— Robert Joss (resigned 18 June 2010) 
— Joan Allgood (alternate for Daniel Hurwitz)  
— John Wright (alternate for Richard Sheppard and Stephen Girdis) (resigned 19 March 2010). 

3.  Distributions 

There were no distributions declared for the year ended 30 June 2010 (2009: nil). 

4.  Review of operations  

The performance of the Group, as represented by the results of its operations for the year, was as follows: 

2010 2009

$’000 $’000

Total income / (loss) net of property expenses* 75,719 (732,293)

Loss for the year** (3,410) (616,356)

Core earnings (note 24) 28,402 68,843

* Includes fair value movements in investment property of subsidiaries and jointly controlled entities

** Includes fair value movements in investment property of subsidiaries and jointly controlled entities, net losses on derivative financial instruments 

and unrealised foreign exchange movements  

The underlying operational performance of the Group for the period has been profitable and is in line with management’s 
expectations based on the current circumstances. The reported loss for the period has been impacted by fair value 
movements in investment property of subsidiaries and jointly controlled entities, net losses on derivative financial 
instruments used in hedging interest rate and foreign exchange exposure for the period (including realised losses on the 
close out of various derivative financial instruments) and unrealised foreign exchange movements.  
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5.  Significant changes in the state of affairs 

Redemption of DDR interests in the US LLC Joint Venture 

During the year, the Trust announced completion of the redemption of Developers Diversified Realty Corporation’s (DDR) 
ownership in the largest of its three joint venture entities with the Trust, EDT Fund LLC (formerly known as DDR Macquarie 
Fund LLC) (US LLC), which prior to the redemption was owned by the Trust and DDR, indirectly through their mutual 
interest in EPN US Trust Inc. (formerly known as Macquarie DDR US Trust Inc.) (US REIT I) and DDR’s direct interest in US 
LLC. DDR’s direct and indirect ownership interest in the US LLC Joint Venture was redeemed in exchange for three jointly 
owned properties and a cash payment of US$1.6 million from DDR to the Trust. The redemption was approved by 
unitholders at a General Meeting held on 19 October 2009.  

Prior to the redemption, the Trust did not have the ability to make the strategic financial and operating decisions for any of 
the three joint venture entities with DDR (US LLC, DDR MDT PS LLC (PS LLC) and DDR MDT MV LLC (MV LLC)), without 
the need for an affirmative vote by representatives of DDR. On the basis that joint control existed, these investments were 
all equity accounted.  

As a result of the redemption transaction, the Trust gained control over US LLC as it now has the ability to make the 
strategic financial and operating decisions relating to the US LLC’s assets without the need for any approval from DDR. As 
part of the redemption transaction both US REIT I and EPN US Trust II Inc. (formerly known as Macquarie DDR US Trust II 
Inc.) (US REIT II) boards of Directors were reconstituted to comprise only directors selected by the Trust. Accordingly, the 
equity method of accounting is no longer appropriate for EDT’s interest in US REIT I, US REIT II and US LLC, and 
consolidated financial statements have been prepared for the year ended 30 June 2010 in accordance with AASB 127 
Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements (see note 1(b)). There were no changes to governance arrangements for 
MV LLC and PS LLC. The Trust still does not have the ability to make the strategic financial and operating decisions without 
the need for an affirmative vote by representatives of DDR and therefore these investments continue to be equity 
accounted.  

Recapitalisation  

On 22 April 2010 the Trust entered into agreements with a new cornerstone investor, EPN GP, LLC (EPN), to recapitalise 
and stabilise the Trust’s balance sheet and enable the Trust to take advantage of any recovery in the US retail property 
market. The key components of the recapitalisation were: 

• a $9.5 million private placement at $0.067 per unit to EPN; 

• a pro-rata entitlement offer to raise $198.9 million; and 

• to facilitate the recapitalisation, Macquarie Group Limited (Macquarie) agreed to sell EPN its 2.6% principal 
unitholding in the Trust and, following the completion of the entitlement offer, its 50% interest in Macquarie DDR 
Management LLC (the owner of the Responsible Entity). 

On 7 May 2010 the Trust announced the details of the fully underwritten pro-rata renounceable entitlement offer of 10 new 
units for every 3 existing units at an offer price of $0.055 per new unit to raise $198.9 million. 

On 18 June 2010 the Trust announced the successful completion of the recapitalisation, with the combined proceeds from 
the placement and entitlement offer of $208 million subsequently used to repay all unsecured debt facilities and unsecured 
derivative contracts and to reduce the Revolver facility. As a result of the recapitalisation, EPN became the largest 
unitholder of the Trust holding approximately 47.8% of the outstanding units on issue at 18 June 2010. In addition, EPN 
also finalised the acquisition of Macquarie’s 50% interest in Macquarie DDR Management LLC (the owner of the 
Responsible Entity). As a result the Trust is managed by the Responsible Entity which is, indirectly, owned in equal parts by 
EPN and DDR. The Responsible Entity has a majority of EPN appointed directors and has changed its name to EDT Retail 
Trust (EDT). The Responsible Entity has changed its name from Macquarie DDR Management Limited to EDT Retail 
Management Limited (ERML) and its parent company changed its name from Macquarie DDR Management LLC to EDT 
Management LLC. 
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5.    Significant changes in the state of affairs (continued) 

Operations 

During the year, US LLC sold 5 properties for US$96.7million (approximately $113.7 million). The Trust’s interest in the 
properties varied from 85.48% to 99.98%. The Trust’s share of the sold properties was US$83.5 million (approximately 
$98.1 million). 

MV LLC, a jointly controlled entity, sold 5 properties for US$30.5 million (approximately $35.7 million). As the Trust’s 
investment in MV LLC was equity accounted to nil in December 2009 the Trust did not recognise any gains or losses from 
this portfolio. 

During the year, the Group’s share of net property revaluation losses on a ‘look through basis’ was $5.1 million (2009: 
$781.5 million).  
 
During the year, the Group extended the following facilities: 

— The Bison facility which was originally due to mature on 1 June 2009 was extended to 1 June 2011. The facility 
was extended at a fixed rate of 5.18% per annum. Since 30 June 2009, the Trust has sold 2 assets secured 
against this facility and repaid US$34.6 million using the asset sale proceeds.  

— The Longhorn III commercial mortgage backed securities (CMBS) facility which was originally due to mature on 5 
April 2010 was extended to 5 April 2012. The facility of US$39.3 million is secured against 2 assets.  

— The Longhorn II US$145.1 million CMBS facility was extended to 5 August 2010 and an option secured, subject 
to an additional principal loan repayment of US$2 million, to further extend the facility to 5 October 2010. On 2 
August 2010 the Trust exercised this option and the loan balance was reduced to US$143.1 million. The Group 
is in advanced negotiations with new lenders and has entered a non-binding signed term sheet to refinance the 
existing facility with a long term facility. In the event that the refinancing is not completed the directors would 
pursue other refinancing options. 

— The Revolver Facility was extended to 30 April 2013. The facility originally matured in April 2010 and was 
reduced to US$207.9 million shortly after completion of the entitlement offer on 18 June 2010. 

 
The financial statements for the Group as at 30 June 2010 have been prepared on a going concern basis as the directors 
of the Responsible Entity, after reviewing the Group’s going concern status, have concluded that the Group has reasonable 
grounds to expect to be able to pay its debts as and when they become due and payable.   
 

6.  Events occurring after reporting date  

Subsequent to year end the Group has entered into a non-binding signed term sheet to refinance the existing Longhorn II 
facility with a long term facility. As at the date of this report these advanced negotiations are continuing. 

Due to the likelihood of not being able to retrieve any equity value from the MV LLC portfolio (Single Box Portfolio) and 
significant additional capital being required, the Trust, DDR and the loan servicer are now progressing to jointly request that 
a court appoint a third party receiver to manage and liquidate the remaining assets within the portfolio. There is no 
obligation for the Group to provide further equity to the lender or the joint venture. The Trust’s investment in the MV LLC 
joint venture entity was equity accounted to nil in the six months ended 31 December 2009. As a result, the Group no 
longer recognises further losses from this portfolio and the portfolio provides no contribution to the Group’s Net Tangible 
Assets (NTA). 

Since the end of the financial year, the directors of the Responsible Entity are not aware of any other matter or 
circumstance not otherwise dealt with in this report or the financial statements that has significantly affected or may 
significantly affect the operations of the Group, the results of those operations or the state of affairs of the Group in financial 
years subsequent to the year ended 30 June 2010. 
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7.  Likely developments and expected results of operations 

The financial statements have been prepared on the basis of current known market conditions. The extent to which any 
potential further deterioration in either capital or physical property markets may have on the future results of the Trust are 
unknown. Such results could include the potential to influence property market valuations, the ability of borrowers, including 
the Group, to raise or refinance debt, and the cost of such debt and the ability to raise equity.  

At the date of this report and to the best of the Directors’ knowledge and belief, there are no other anticipated changes in 
the operations of the Group which would have a material impact on the future results of the Group. Property valuation 
changes and movements in foreign exchange and interest rates may have a material impact on the Group’s results in future 
years, however these cannot be reliably measured at the date of this report.  

8.  Indemnification and insurance of officers and auditor 

The Responsible Entity pays insurance premiums in relation to an investment manager’s insurance policy providing 
insurance cover both to the Trust and the officers of the Responsible Entity. The Trust reimburses the Responsible Entity a 
portion of the premium based on the benefit it receives under the policy. So long as the officers of the Responsible Entity 
act in accordance with the Trust Constitution and the Corporations Act 2001, the officers remain indemnified out of the 
assets of the Trust against losses incurred while acting on behalf of the Trust. The auditor of the Trust is in no way 
indemnified out of the assets of the Trust. 

9.  Fees paid to and interests held in the Trust by the Responsible Entity or its associates 

The interests in the Trust held by the Responsible Entity or its related entities as at 30 June 2010 and fees paid to its 
related entities during the financial year are disclosed in note 23 to the financial statements.  

10.  Interests in the Trust 

The movement in units of the Trust during the year is set out below: 

2010 2009

Units on issue at the beginning of the year 943,203,042 929,460,855
Units issued during the year 3,757,087,826 13,742,187
Units on issue at the end of the year 4,700,290,868 943,203,042  

11.  Value of assets 

2010 2009

$’000 $’000

Value of Group assets 1,582,694 406,602  

The value of the Group’s assets is derived using the basis set out in note 1 to the financial statements. 

The current volatility in the global real estate markets and a significant reduction in the number of real estate transactions 
has meant there is less certainty with regards to investment property valuations and the assumptions applied to valuation 
inputs. Further details are provided in note 1(h). 

12.  Environmental regulations 

To the best of the Directors’ knowledge, the operations of the Group have been undertaken in compliance with the 
applicable environmental regulations of the Commonwealth and each Australian State or Territory where the Group 
operates. 
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13.  Information on current directors  

 

Director Experience 
Special 
responsibilities 

Interest in units 
of the Trust 

Alexander Berman 
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áåÅäìÇáåÖ=éÉêëçååÉä=~åÇ=íê~åë~ÅíáçåëK=jê=_Éêã~å=ëí~êíÉÇ=Üáë=Å~êÉÉê=~ë=~=`m^K=eÉ=
Ü~ë=çîÉê=OR=óÉ~êë=çÑ=ã~å~ÖÉãÉåíI=áåîÉëíãÉåíI=Ñáå~åÅÉI=~åÇ=ÄìëáåÉëë=ÇÉîÉäçéãÉåí=
ÉñéÉêáÉåÅÉ=áå=íÜÉ=rp=~åÇ=áåíÉêå~íáçå~ääóK=cêçã=NVVV=íç=j~êÅÜ=OMMVI=jê=_Éêã~å=ï~ë=
~å=ÉñÉÅìíáîÉ=ïáíÜ=dÉåÉê~ä=dêçïíÜ=mêçéÉêíáÉëI=fåÅK=E?ddm?FI=çåÉ=çÑ=íÜÉ=ãçëí=
éêçãáåÉåí=rp=ã~ää=ÇÉîÉäçéÉêëI=çïåÉêë=~åÇ=çéÉê~íçêëI=ïÜÉêÉ=ÜÉ=ï~ë=~=`çêéçê~íÉ=
lÑÑáÅÉêK=eÉ=ãçëí=êÉÅÉåíäó=äÉÇ=ddmÛë=áåíÉêå~íáçå~ä=Éñé~åëáçå=~ë=cçìåÇÉê=~åÇ=eÉ~Ç=çÑ=
ddm=fåíÉêå~íáçå~ä=~åÇ=éêÉîáçìëäó=ÜÉäÇ=íÜÉ=éçëáíáçå=çÑ=ddmÛë=pÉåáçê=sáÅÉ=mêÉëáÇÉåí=çÑ=
`~éáí~ä=j~êâÉíë=~åÇ=cáå~åÅÉK=jê=_Éêã~å=ÜçäÇë=~å=j_^=ÇÉÖêÉÉ=áå=Ñáå~åÅÉ=Ñêçã=íÜÉ=
råáîÉêëáíó=çÑ=mÉååëóäî~åá~Ûë=tÜ~êíçå=pÅÜççäK=eÉ=áë=~=ãÉãÄÉê=çÑ=íÜÉ=fåíÉêå~íáçå~ä=
`çìåÅáä=çÑ=pÜçééáåÖ=`ÉåíêÉëK=
=
`ìêêÉåí=äáëíÉÇ=ÇáêÉÅíçêëÜáéëW=kçåÉ=
=
cçêãÉê=äáëíÉÇ=ÇáêÉÅíçêëÜáéë=áå=ä~ëí=íÜêÉÉ=óÉ~êëW=kçåÉ 

bñÉÅìíáîÉ=`Ü~áêã~å káä 

Steven Guttman 
 

^ééçáåíÉÇ=NO=g~åì~êó=OMMQ=
^ÖÉW=SP=
=
píÉîÉå=Ü~ë=ÉñíÉåëáîÉ=êÉ~ä=Éëí~íÉ=ÉñéÉêáÉåÅÉ=ïáíÜ=ëéÉÅáÑáÅ=ÉñéÉêíáëÉ=áå=Åçããìåáíó=
ëÜçééáåÖ=ÅÉåíêÉë=~åÇ=ãáñÉÇJìëÉ=ìêÄ~å=éêçéÉêíó=~ÅèìáëáíáçåI=ÇÉîÉäçéãÉåí=~åÇ=
ã~å~ÖÉãÉåí=áå=íÜÉ=rpK=eÉ=êÉíáêÉÇ=áå=g~åì~êó=OMMP=~ë=ÅÜ~áêã~å=~åÇ=`ÜáÉÑ=bñÉÅìíáîÉ=
lÑÑáÅÉê=çÑ=cÉÇÉê~ä=oÉ~äíó=fåîÉëíãÉåí=qêìëí=ÑçääçïáåÖ=~=íÜáêíó=óÉ~ê=Å~êÉÉê=ïáíÜ=íÜÉ=
Åçãé~åóI=íïÉåíó=óÉ~êë=çÑ=ïÜáÅÜ=ÜÉ=ëÉêîÉÇ=~ë=`ÜáÉÑ=bñÉÅìíáîÉ=lÑÑáÅÉêK=^ÇÇáíáçå~ääóI=áå=
NVVU=píÉîÉå=ÑçìåÇÉÇ=píçê~ÖÉ=aÉäìñÉ=j~å~ÖÉãÉåí=`çêéçê~íáçåI=~=rp=Ä~ëÉÇ=çïåÉêI=
ÇÉîÉäçéÉê=~åÇ=ã~å~ÖÉê=çÑ=ëÉäÑ=ëíçê~ÖÉ=éêçéÉêíáÉëK=páåÅÉ=NVTPI=píÉîÉå=Ü~ë=ÄÉÉå=~=
ãÉãÄÉê=çÑ=íÜÉ=k~íáçå~ä=^ëëçÅá~íáçå=çÑ=oÉ~ä=bëí~íÉ=fåîÉëíãÉåí=qêìëíëI=Ü~îáåÖ=ëÉêîÉÇ=
çå=áíë=Äç~êÇ=çÑ=ÖçîÉêåçêëI=ÉñÉÅìíáîÉ=ÅçããáííÉÉ=~åÇ=~äëç=~ë=ÅÜ~áêã~å=áå=NVVTJVUI=
~åÇ=ÅçåíáåìÉë=~ë=ÉñJçÑÑáÅáç=ãÉãÄÉê=çÑ=áíë=Äç~êÇK=eÉ=ÜÉäÇ=~ÅíáîÉ=ãÉãÄÉêëÜáé=áå=íÜÉ=
fåíÉêå~íáçå~ä=`çìåÅáä=çÑ=pÜçééáåÖ=`ÉåíÉêë=Ñçê=ãçêÉ=íÜ~å=PR=óÉ~êëK=eÉ=áë=ÅìêêÉåíäó=çå=
íÜÉ=ÉñÉÅìíáîÉ=ÅçããáííÉÉ=çÑ=íÜÉ=`ÉåíÉê=mçãéáÇçì=cçìåÇ~íáçå=~åÇ=~äëç=ÅçJÅÜ~áêã~å=
çÑ=já~ãá=^êí=jìëÉìãÛë=áåíÉêå~íáçå~ä=ÅçããáííÉÉ=~åÇ=ï~ë=éêÉîáçìëäó=çå=íÜÉ=Äç~êÇ=çÑ=
~Çîáëçêë=çÑ=íÜÉ=dÉçêÖÉ=t~ëÜáåÖíçå=råáîÉêëáíó=i~ï=pÅÜççäK=píÉîÉå=Ü~ë=~=_^=Ñêçã=
íÜÉ=råáîÉêëáíó=çÑ=máííëÄìêÖÜI=~=gìêáë=açÅíçê~íÉ=Ñêçã=dÉçêÖÉ=t~ëÜáåÖíçå=råáîÉêëáíóI=
ÄçíÜ=ïáíÜ=ÜçåçìêëI=~åÇ=áë=~=ãÉãÄÉê=çÑ=íÜÉ=qêìëíÛë=~ìÇáí=ÅçããáííÉÉ. 
=
`ìêêÉåí=äáëíÉÇ=ÇáêÉÅíçêëÜáéëW=kçåÉ=
=
cçêãÉê=äáëíÉÇ=ÇáêÉÅíçêëÜáéë=áå=ä~ëí=íÜêÉÉ=óÉ~êëW=kçåÉ 

jÉãÄÉê=çÑ=~ìÇáí=
ÅçããáííÉÉ 

 SVPIPPP=
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13.  Information on current directors (continued) 
 

Director Experience 
Special 
responsibilities 

Interest in units 
of the Trust 

David Spruell 
 

^ééçáåíÉÇ=NO=g~åì~êó=OMMQ=
^ÖÉW=SN=
=
a~îáÇ=áë=íÜÉ=iÉ~Ç=fåÇÉéÉåÇÉåí=ÇáêÉÅíçê=~åÇ=Ü~ë=Ñçêíó=óÉ~êë=ÉñéÉêáÉåÅÉ=áå=áåîÉëíãÉåí=
ã~å~ÖÉãÉåí=~åÇ=Ñáå~åÅá~ä=ëÉêîáÅÉë=áå=ÄçíÜ=íÜÉ=rh=~åÇ=^ìëíê~äá~K=eÉ=ÜÉäÇ=~=åìãÄÉê=çÑ=
ëÉåáçê=êçäÉë=~í=mêìÇÉåíá~ä=áå=^ìëíê~äá~=áåÅäìÇáåÖ=ÜÉ~Ç=çÑ=fåîÉëíãÉåí=j~å~ÖÉãÉåí=~åÇ=
`ÜáÉÑ=bñÉÅìíáîÉ=çÑ=mêìÇÉåíá~äÛë=fåîÉëíãÉåí=aÉ~äÉê=ÖêçìéK=eÉ=ï~ë=~å=bñÉÅìíáîÉ=
aáêÉÅíçê=çÑ=mêìÇÉåíá~ä=E^ìëíê~äá~F=~ë=ïÉää=~ë=~=åìãÄÉê=çÑ=áíë=ëìÄëáÇá~êáÉëK=eÉ=ï~ë=`bl=
çÑ=^ääá~åò=^ëëÉí=j~å~ÖÉãÉåí=^ìëíê~äá~=~åÇ=ï~ë=~=ÇáêÉÅíçê=çÑ=ã~åó=çÑ=íÜÉ=ëìÄëáÇá~êáÉë=
çÑ=^ääá~åò=^ìëíê~äá~=iáãáíÉÇK=a~îáÇ=áë=ÅÜ~áêéÉêëçå=çÑ=íÜÉ=tçêâÉêë=`çãéÉåë~íáçå=
fåëìê~åÅÉ=cìåÇ=fåîÉëíãÉåí=_ç~êÇ=áå=kÉï=pçìíÜ=t~äÉë=~åÇ=~=kçåJbñÉÅìíáîÉ=aáêÉÅíçê=
çÑ=lêÅÜ~êÇ=cìåÇë=iáãáíÉÇ=~åÇ=dêçïíÜéçáåí=mêçéÉêíáÉë=^ìëíê~äá~=iáãáíÉÇK=eÉ=áë=~=ÑÉääçï=
çÑ=íÜÉ=^ìëíê~äá~å=fåëíáíìíÉ=çÑ=`çãé~åó=aáêÉÅíçêë=~åÇ=íÜÉ=cáå~åÅá~ä=pÉêîáÅÉë=fåëíáíìíÉ=çÑ=
^ìëíê~ä~ëá~K=a~îáÇ=Ü~ë=~=_`çã=EeçåëF=Ñêçã=íÜÉ=råáîÉêëáíó=çÑ=_áêãáåÖÜ~ã=~åÇ=áë=
ÅÜ~áêã~å=çÑ=íÜÉ=qêìëíÛë=~ìÇáí=ÅçããáííÉÉK=
=
`ìêêÉåí=äáëíÉÇ=ÇáêÉÅíçêëÜáéëW=dêçïíÜéçáåí=mêçéÉêíáÉë=^ìëíê~äá~=iáãáíÉÇ=
cçêãÉê=äáëíÉÇ=ÇáêÉÅíçêëÜáéë=áå=ä~ëí=íÜêÉÉ=óÉ~êëW==
lêÅÜ~êÇ=mêçéÉêíó=iáãáíÉÇI=ã~å~ÖÉê=çÑ=lêÅÜ~êÇ=fåÇìëíêá~ä=mêçéÉêíó=cìåÇ=Eåçï=
dêçïíÜéçáåí=^ìëíê~äá~=qêìëíFK=
=

`Ü~áêã~å=çÑ=~ìÇáí=
ÅçããáííÉÉ=
=
iÉ~Ç=áåÇÉéÉåÇÉåí=
ÇáêÉÅíçê 

NIMRPINSU 

David Oakes 
 

^ééçáåíÉÇ=NM=aÉÅÉãÄÉê=OMMT=
^ÖÉW=PO=
 
David was promoted to Senior Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of 
Developers Diversified Realty in February 2010. Prior to that, he served as Senior 
Executive Vice President of Finance and Chief Investment Officer since December 
2008. Mr Oakes joined Developers Diversified Realty as Executive Vice President of 
Finance and Chief Investment Officer in April 2007. He oversees the company's 
capital markets, transactions, budgeting, tax, investor relations, funds management, 
property and corporate accounting, audit, and external reporting functions. He serves 
on the company's executive, compensation, and management committees, and 
chairs the investment committee. David is also a member of the Developers 
Diversified/Sonae Sierra Brasil advisory committee that oversees all venture activities 
in Brazil. Prior to joining Developers Diversified Realty, David served as Senior Vice 
President and Portfolio Manager at Cohen & Steers Capital Management. In his role, 
he oversaw the firm's global and international real estate securities portfolios for the 
oldest and largest dedicated real estate securities fund manager. Previously he 
worked as a Research Analyst in global investment research at Goldman Sachs, 
where he covered US REITs. David earned his bachelor's degree at Washington 
University in St. Louis and is a CFA charterholder. He is a member of the Zell-Lurie 
Real Estate Center, the National Association of Real Estate Investment Trusts 
(NAREIT), the International Council of Shopping Centers (ICSC), the New York 
Society of Securities Analysts,=~åÇ=áë=~=ãÉãÄÉê=çÑ=íÜÉ=qêìëíÛë=~ìÇáí=ÅçããáííÉÉK 
 
`ìêêÉåí=äáëíÉÇ=ÇáêÉÅíçêëÜáéëW=kçåÉ=
=
cçêãÉê=äáëíÉÇ=ÇáêÉÅíçêëÜáéë=áå=ä~ëí=íÜêÉÉ=óÉ~êëW=kçåÉ=
 
 

Member of audit 
committee 

Nil 
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13.  Information on current directors (continued) 

 
Director Experience Special  

responsibilities 
Interest in units 
of the Trust 

Daniel Hurwitz 
 

Appointed 8 October 2003 
Age: 46 
 
Daniel was appointed President & Chief Executive Officer of Developers Diversified 
Realty on January 1, 2010. He had served as President & Chief Operating Officer of 
the company from May 2007 through December 2009, as Senior Executive Vice 
President & Chief Investment Officer from May 2005 to May 2007, and as Executive 
Vice President from June 1999 through April 2005. Daniel joined the Developers 
Diversified board of directors in June 2009, and previously served on the board from 
May 2002 to May 2004. Daniel is responsible for developing, refining and executing 
Developers Diversified's corporate strategy, policies, goals and objectives. This role is 
accountable for company performance and reports to the Board of Directors. Also, 
he is a member of the Company's executive, management and investment 
committees. Prior to joining Developers Diversified, Daniel served as Senior Vice 
President and Director of Real Estate and Corporate Development for Boscov's 
Department Store, Inc. Prior to Boscov's, Mr. Hurwitz served as Development 
Director for the Shopco Group, a New York City-based developer and acquirer of 
regional and super regional shopping malls. Daniel is a graduate of Colgate University 
and the Wharton School of Business Management Program at the University of 
Pennsylvania. He is a frequent speaker at real estate industry functions, including the 
International Council of Shopping Centers (ICSC), Urban Land Institute (ULI), and The 
University of Wisconsin-Madison James A. Graaskamp Center for Real Estate. 
 
Professionally, Daniel is a member of the Board of Trustees of U-Store-It Trust 
(NYSE: YSI), where he serves on the audit committee and as chair of the executive 
compensation committee; a member of the Developers Diversified/Sonae Sierra 
Brasil advisory committee that oversees all venture activities in Brazil; a member of 
International Council of Shopping Centres (ICSC), a member of the ICSC Board of 
Trustees, co-chair of ICSC's open-air centers committee and a member of the ICSC 
Political Action Committee. He is also a member of ULI and serves as Vice Chairman 
of the CRC Blue Council. In addition, Daniel is a member of The Samuel Zell and 
Robert Lurie Real Estate Center at The Wharton School, University of Pennsylvania, 
where he serves in the Career Mentor Program. Additionally, Daniel is a member of 
the Colgate University Board of Trustees; a member of the Board of Trustees of 
Hawken School; and a member of the Leadership Board for the Neurological Institute 
at the Cleveland Clinic. He has also served as a member of the Board of Regents for 
the University System of Ohio and the Board of Directors of the Colgate University 
Alumni Corporation, Colgate University Maroon Council, Boscov's Department Store, 
Inc., The Network, Applewood Centers and the Cleveland Children's Museum.  
 
Current listed directorships: None 
 
Former listed directorships in last three years: None=

 káä 

Karlis Cerbulis 
 

^ééçáåíÉÇ=NU=gìåÉ=OMNM=
^ÖÉW=RN=
=
jê=`ÉêÄìäáë=áë=~=i~íîá~=Ä~ëÉÇ=ÉñÉÅìíáîÉ=ïáíÜ=~å=~ÑÑáäá~íÉ=çÑ=b~ëíÖ~íÉK=jê=`ÉêÄìäáë=
ã~å~ÖÉë=íÜÉ=ÑáêãÛë=~ÅíáîáíáÉë=áå=íÜÉ=_~äíáÅëI=áåÅäìÇáåÖ=ëíê~íÉÖáÅ=ä~åÇ=~ÅÅìãìä~íáçåëI=
êÉ~ä=Éëí~íÉ=êÉëíêìÅíìêáåÖë=~åÇ=ÇÉîÉäçéãÉåíë=~åÇ=ÇáêÉÅí=áåîÉëíãÉåíëK=jê=`ÉêÄìäáë=Ü~ë=
ã~å~ÖÉÇ=~=ÇáîÉêëáÑáÉÇ=éçêíÑçäáç=çÑ=êÉ~ä=Éëí~íÉ=éêçàÉÅíë=áå=i~íîá~I=áåÅäìÇáåÖ=ãáñÉÇJìëÉ=
çÑÑáÅÉ=ëé~ÅÉI=ï~êÉÜçìëÉ=L=äçÖáëíáÅ~ä=ÅçãéäÉñÉëI=éä~ååÉÇ=êÉëáÇÉåíá~ä=L=êÉí~áä=
ÇÉîÉäçéãÉåíë=~åÇ=íÜÉ=ëíê~íÉÖáÅ=~ÅèìáëáíáçåI=êÉòçåáåÖ=~åÇ=éÉêãáííáåÖ=çÑ=ä~åÇ=Ñçê=
ãáñÉÇJìëÉ=Ñ~ÅáäáíáÉëK=jê=`ÉêÄìäáë=ï~ë=ÅçJÑçìåÇÉê=~åÇ=Ñáêëí=mêÉëáÇÉåí=çÑ=íÜÉ=oáÖ~=píçÅâ=
bñÅÜ~åÖÉK=eÉ=Ü~ë=ëÉêîÉÇ=~ë=~å=~ÇîáëÉê=íç=íÜÉ=jáåáëíÉê=çÑ=bÅçåçãó=áå=i~íîá~K=jê=
`ÉêÄìäáë=êÉÅÉáîÉÇ=~=_p=áå=^Öêçåçãó=ïáíÜ=ÜáÖÜÉëí=ÇáëíáåÅíáçå=Ñêçã=mÉååëóäî~åá~=pí~íÉ=
råáîÉêëáíó=~åÇ=~å=j_^=Ñêçã=e~êî~êÇ=_ìëáåÉëë=pÅÜççäK=
=
`ìêêÉåí=äáëíÉÇ=ÇáêÉÅíçêëÜáéëW=kçåÉ=
=
cçêãÉê=äáëíÉÇ=ÇáêÉÅíçêëÜáéë=áå=ä~ëí=íÜêÉÉ=óÉ~êëW=kçåÉ 
 

 káä=
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13.  Information on current directors (continued) 
 

Director Experience 
Special 
responsibilities 

Interest in units 
of the Trust 

Gregory Katz 
 

^ééçáåíÉÇ=NU=gìåÉ=OMNM=
^ÖÉW=RV=
=
jê=h~íò=áë=dÉåÉê~ä=`çìåëÉä=çÑ=~=éêáî~íÉ=ÑìåÇ=ã~å~ÖÉê=ïÜáÅÜ=áë=~å=~ÑÑáäá~íÉ=çÑ=b~ëíÖ~íÉK=
jê=h~íò=áë=êÉëéçåëáÄäÉ=Ñçê=çîÉêëÉÉáåÖ=~ää=íÜÉ=äÉÖ~ä=~ÑÑ~áêë=çÑ=íÜáë=ÑìåÇ=ã~å~ÖÉê=~Åêçëë=
áíë=ÖäçÄ~ä=çÑÑáÅÉëK=mêÉîáçìëäóI=jê=h~íò=ï~ë=~=é~êíåÉê=~í=~=kÉï=vçêâ=~åÇ=p~å=cê~åÅáëÅç=
Ä~ëÉÇ=ä~ï=ÑáêãK=jê=h~íò=Ü~ë=ÉñéÉêáÉåÅÉ=áå=íÜÉ=~êÉ~ë=çÑ=ãÉêÖÉêë=~åÇ=~ÅèìáëáíáçåëI=
ëÉÅìêáíáÉë=ä~ïI=Åçêéçê~íÉ=Ñáå~åÅÉI=Åçêéçê~íÉ=ÖçîÉêå~åÅÉ=~åÇ=ÅçããÉêÅá~ä=êÉ~ä=Éëí~íÉ=
íê~åë~ÅíáçåëK=jê=h~íò=áë=~=Öê~Çì~íÉ=çÑ=íÜÉ=råáîÉêëáíó=çÑ=mÉååëóäî~åá~=~åÇ=e~êî~êÇ=i~ï=
pÅÜççäK=
=
`ìêêÉåí=äáëíÉÇ=ÇáêÉÅíçêëÜáéëW=kçåÉ=
=
cçêãÉê=äáëíÉÇ=ÇáêÉÅíçêëÜáéë=áå=ä~ëí=íÜêÉÉ=óÉ~êëW=kçåÉ=
=

 káä=

Zvi Maayan ^ééçáåíÉÇ=NU=gìåÉ=OMNM=
^ÖÉW=QP=
=
jê=j~~ó~å=áë=dÉåÉê~ä=`çìåëÉä=çÑ=bäÄáí=fã~ÖáåÖI=~=éçëáíáçå=ÜÉ=Ü~ë=ÜÉäÇ=ëáåÅÉ=lÅíçÄÉê=
OMMUK=eÉ=Ü~ë=éêÉîáçìëäó=ëÉêîÉÇ=~ë=^ëëáëí~åí=dÉåÉê~ä=`çìåëÉä=Ñêçã=OMMT=íç=OMMUK=
mêáçê=íç=àçáåáåÖ=bäÄáí=fã~ÖáåÖ=jê=j~~ó~å=ï~ë=^ëëáëí~åí=dÉåÉê~ä=`çìåëÉä=Ñçê=fëê~Éä=
^Éêçëé~ÅÉ=fåÇìëíêáÉëK=jê=j~~ó~å=ï~ë=~=ëÉåáçê=~ëëçÅá~íÉ=áå=~=ä~ï=Ñáêã=ëéÉÅá~äáëáåÖ=áå=
ÅçããÉêÅá~ä=~åÇ=Åáîáä=ä~ïI=áåíÉêå~íáçå~ä=ÅçããÉêÅÉI=Ä~åâáåÖ=~åÇ=Ñáå~åÅáåÖI=Ä~åâêìéíÅóI=
ÄáçJéÜ~êã~ÅÉìíáÅ~ä=áåÇìëíêóI=êÉ~ä=Éëí~íÉ=~åÇ=äáíáÖ~íáçåK=jê=j~~ó~å=áë=~=Öê~Çì~íÉ=çÑ=íÜÉ=
_~ê=ff~å=råáîÉêëáíó=Eii_I=iijI=Åìã=ä~ìÇÉFK=
=
`ìêêÉåí=äáëíÉÇ=ÇáêÉÅíçêëÜáéëW=kçåÉ=
=
cçêãÉê=äáëíÉÇ=ÇáêÉÅíçêëÜáéë=áå=ä~ëí=íÜêÉÉ=óÉ~êëW=kçåÉ=
=

 Nil=

David Machloof 
 

Appointed 18 June 2010 
Age: 38 
 
Mr Machloof is co-CEO of Elbit Imaging, a position he has held since January 2010. 
He previously served as Chief Financial Officer from 2006 to 2009 and head of the 
company’s accounting department from 2003 to 2005. Prior to joining Elbit Imaging, 
Mr Machloof was a manager at Deloitte & Touche, Certified Public Accountants. Mr 
Machloof holds a BA in Economics and an LLM, both from Bar IIan University and is 
a Certified Public Accountant. 
 
Current listed directorships: None 
 
Former listed directorships in last three years: None=

 Nil 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



EDT Retail Trust (formerly known as Macquarie DDR Trust) 

Directors’ Report to Unitholders 
for year ended 30 June 2010  
  
 
 
 

PAGE 12 

13.  Information on current directors (continued) 

 

Director Experience 
Special  
responsibilities 

Interest in units 
of the Trust 

Luke 
Petherbridge 
 

^ééçáåíÉÇ=NU=gìåÉ=OMNM=
^ÖÉW=PM=
=
iìâÉ=ï~ë=~ééçáåíÉÇ=`ÜáÉÑ=bñÉÅìíáîÉ=lÑÑáÅÉê=çÑ=íÜÉ=qêìëí=áå=^ìÖìëí=OMMU=Ü~îáåÖ=
ëÉêîÉÇ=~ë=dÉåÉê~ä=j~å~ÖÉê=ëáåÅÉ=àçáåáåÖ=j~Åèì~êáÉ=áå=^éêáä=OMMUK=iìâÉ=Ü~ë=ëéÉåí=íÜÉ=
ä~ëí=åáåÉ=óÉ~êë=áå=íÜÉ=^ìëíê~äá~å=~ëëÉí=ã~å~ÖÉãÉåí=áåÇìëíêóK=mêáçê=íç=àçáåáåÖ=
j~Åèì~êáÉI=iìâÉ=ïçêâÉÇ=ïáíÜ=ÄçìíáèìÉ=éêçéÉêíó=áåîÉëíãÉåí=Åçãé~åó=~åÇ=~ëëÉí=
ã~å~ÖÉê=oìÄáÅçå=~ë=aáêÉÅíçê=çÑ=qê~åë~ÅíáçåëK=tÜáäÉ=áå=íÜáë=êçäÉI=iìâÉ=ïçêâÉÇ=çå=
íê~åë~Åíáçåë=ÑçÅìëáåÖ=çå=rpI=bìêçéÉ~å=~åÇ=g~é~åÉëÉ=êÉ~ä=Éëí~íÉ=~åÇ=êÉ~ä=Éëí~íÉ=
Ä~ÅâÉÇ=ëíêìÅíìêÉÇ=Ñáå~åÅÉK=iìâÉ=ÜçäÇë=~=_`çã=EbÅçåçãáÅëF=Ñêçã=j~Åèì~êáÉ=
råáîÉêëáíóK=
=
`ìêêÉåí=äáëíÉÇ=ÇáêÉÅíçêëÜáéëW=kçåÉ=
=
cçêãÉê=äáëíÉÇ=ÇáêÉÅíçêëÜáéë=áå=ä~ëí=íÜêÉÉ=óÉ~êëW=kçåÉ=
 

`ÜáÉÑ=bñÉÅìíáîÉ==
lÑÑáÅÉê 

káä 

Joan Allgood  
(alternate) 
 

^ééçáåíÉÇ=NO=g~åì~êó=OMMQ=
^ÖÉW=RT=
=
^ë=ÉñÉÅìíáîÉ=îáÅÉ=éêÉëáÇÉåí=çÑ=Åçêéçê~íÉ=íê~åë~Åíáçåë=~åÇ=ÖçîÉêå~åÅÉ=~åÇ=ëÉÅêÉí~êó=
çÑ=aÉîÉäçéÉêë=aáîÉêëáÑáÉÇ=oÉ~äíóI=gç~åÛë=êÉëéçåëáÄáäáíáÉë=áåÅäìÇÉ=íÜÉ=ÉñÉÅìíáçå=çÑ=íÜÉ=
Åçãé~åóÛë=ÉñíÉêå~ä=ÖêçïíÜ=ëíê~íÉÖó=íÜêçìÖÜ=ÇçÅìãÉåí=åÉÖçíá~íáçå=~åÇ=ã~å~ÖÉãÉåí=
çÑ=íÜÉ=ÅäçëáåÖ=éêçÅÉëë=Ñçê=ãÉêÖÉêëI=~Åèìáëáíáçåë=~åÇ=ÇáëéçëáíáçåëI=~åÇ=íÜÉ=Åçãéäá~åÅÉ=
ïáíÜ=Åçêéçê~íÉ=ÖçîÉêå~åÅÉ=éçäáÅáÉë=~åÇ=éê~ÅíáÅÉëK=pÜÉ=~äëç=ëÉêîÉë=~ë=Åçêéçê~íÉ=
ëÉÅêÉí~êó=íç=aÉîÉäçéÉêë=aáîÉêëáÑáÉÇÛë=Äç~êÇ=çÑ=ÇáêÉÅíçêëK=gç~å=ï~ë=aÉîÉäçéÉêë=
aáîÉêëáÑáÉÇÛë=ëÉåáçê=îáÅÉ=éêÉëáÇÉåí=~åÇ=ÖÉåÉê~ä=ÅçìåëÉä=ëáåÅÉ=áíë=çêÖ~åáë~íáçå=~ë=~=
éìÄäáÅ=Åçãé~åó=áå=NVVP=~åÇ=ÖÉåÉê~ä=ÅçìåëÉä=çÑ=áíë=éêÉÇÉÅÉëëçê=ÉåíáíáÉë=ëáåÅÉ=NVUTK=
pÜÉ=ï~ë=éêçãçíÉÇ=íç=ëÉåáçê=îáÅÉ=éêÉëáÇÉåí=áå=NVVVK=gç~å=éê~ÅíáëÉÇ=ä~ï=ïáíÜ=
qÜçãéëçå=eáåÉ=Ñêçã=NVUP=íç=NVUT=~åÇ=Ü~ë=~=_^=Ñêçã=íÜÉ=aÉåáëçå=råáîÉêëáíó=~åÇ=~=
gìêáë=açÅíçê~íÉ=Ñêçã=`~ëÉ=tÉëíÉêå=oÉëÉêîÉ=råáîÉêëáíóK=pÜÉ=áë=~=ãÉãÄÉê=çÑ=íÜÉ=
^ãÉêáÅ~å=_~ê=^ëëçÅá~íáçåI=íÜÉ=lÜáç=_~ê=^ëëçÅá~íáçåI=`äÉîÉä~åÇ=_~ê=^ëëçÅá~íáçåI=íÜÉ=
fåíÉêå~íáçå~ä=`çìåÅáä=çÑ=pÜçééáåÖ=`ÉåíÉêë=Ef`p`F=~åÇ=íÜÉ=^ãÉêáÅ~å=`çääÉÖÉ=çÑ=oÉ~ä=
bëí~íÉ=i~ïóÉêëK====
=
`ìêêÉåí=äáëíÉÇ=ÇáêÉÅíçêëÜáéëW=kçåÉ=
=
cçêãÉê=äáëíÉÇ=ÇáêÉÅíçêëÜáéë=áå=ä~ëí=íÜêÉÉ=óÉ~êëW=kçåÉ=
=

= káä=
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14.  Meetings of directors  

 
Full meetings of directors Meetings of audit committee Name 

Eligible to  
attend 

Attended Eligible to 
attend 

Attended 

Steven Guttman 16 14 3 3 

David Spruell 16 16 3 3 

David Oakes 16 14 - - 

Daniel Hurwitz 16 10 - - 

Alexander Berman (appointed 18 June 2010) - - - - 

Karlis Cerbulis (appointed 18 June 2010) - - - - 

Gregory Katz (appointed 18 June 2010) - - - - 

Zvi Maayan (appointed 18 June 2010) - - - - 

David Machloof (appointed 18 June 2010) - - - - 

Luke Petherbridge (appointed 18 June 2010) - - - - 

Simon Jones (resigned 18 June 2010)  16 16 - - 

Stephen Girdis (resigned 18 June 2010) 16 14 - - 

Scott Wolstein (resigned 18 June 2010) 16 9 - - 

Richard Sheppard (resigned 18 June 2010) 16 14 - - 

Robert Joss (resigned 18 June 2010) 16 14 3 3 

Joan Allgood (alternate for Hurwitz and Wolstein) 2 2 - - 

John Wright (alternate for Sheppard and Girdis) 
(resigned 19 March 2010) 

- - - - 

 

15.  Company secretaries 

The company secretary is Christine Williams. Christine Williams was appointed to the position of company secretary on 19 
March 2010.  

John Wright and Natalie Allen resigned as company secretaries on 19 March 2010.  

16.  Non-audit services 

The Responsible Entity of the Trust may decide to employ the auditor on assignments additional to their statutory audit 
duties where the auditor’s expertise and experience with the Trust are important. 

Details of the amounts paid to the auditor (PricewaterhouseCoopers) for audit and non-audit services provided during the 
year are disclosed in note 4 to the financial statements. 

The Board of Directors has considered the position and, in accordance with the advice received from the audit committee, 
is satisfied that the provision of the non-audit services is compatible with the general standard of independence for auditors 
imposed by the Corporations Act 2001. The directors of the Responsible Entity are satisfied that the provision of non-audit 
services by the auditor, or as set out in note 4 to the financial statements, did not compromise the auditor independence 
requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 for the following reasons: 

— all non-audit services have been reviewed by the audit committee to ensure that they do not impact the integrity and 
objectivity of the auditor; and 

— none of the services undermine the general principles relating to auditor independence as set out in Accounting 
Professional and Ethical Standards Board (APES) 110, Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants.  

17.  Auditor’s independence declaration 

A copy of the auditor’s independence declaration as required under section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001 is set out 
on page 15. 
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Income Statement 

 

2010 2009

Note $’000 $’000

Income

Property rental income               113,056                        -  

Property expenses (39,773)                        -  

Net property income                 73,283                        -  

Share of net loss from investments in jointly controlled entities 10(ii) (2,785) (732,412)

Property valuation losses - investment properties (99)                        -  

Interest income 96 119

Net foreign currency gains 5,224                        -  

Total income / (loss) net of property expenses                 75,719 (732,293)

Expenses

Management base fee                   4,728                        -  

Interest expense                 41,692                        49 

Amortisation of borrowing costs                   6,112                      347 

Net loss from derivative financial instruments 2(a) 18,278                 23,444 

Net foreign currency losses                        -                   35,533 

Other expenses 2(b)                   7,034                   1,802 

Loss on sale of assets                      344  - 

Total expenses                 78,188                 61,175 

Loss be fore  tax (2,469) (793,468)

Tax (expense) / benefit 3 (941) 177,112

Loss for the  year (3,410) (616,356)

Attributable  to:

Owners of EDT Retail Trust (3,411) (616,356)

Non-controlling interests 1                        -  

Loss for the  year (3,410) (616,356)

Basic earnings per unit (cents) 6 (0.31) (65.50)

Diluted earnings per unit (cents) 6 (0.31) (65.50)

              Consol ida ted

 

The above Income Statement should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes 
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Statement of Comprehensive Income 

 

2010 2009

Note $’000 $’000

Loss for the  year (3,410) (616,356)

Other comprehensive  income

Net investment hedges 16  - (73,488)

Cash flow hedges 16                 12,547 (9,674)

Exchange rate differences on translation of foreign operations 16 (17,542) 206,152

Other comprehensive income for the year (4,995)               122,990 

Total comprehensive loss for the year (8,405) (493,366)

 

Tota l  comprehensive  loss is a ttributable  to:

Owners of EDT Retail Trust (8,406) (493,366)

Non-controlling interests 1                        -  

Tota l  comprehensive  loss for the  year (8,405) (493,366)

              Consol ida ted

 

The above Statement of Comprehensive Income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes 
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Statement of Financial Position 

 

2010 2009

Note $’000 $’000

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents 7                 39,157                      958 

Receivables 8                 20,559                      674 

Other assets 9                 10,628                        13 

Tota l  current assets                 70,344                   1,645 

Non-current assets

Investment properties 11            1,508,050  - 

Interest in jointly controlled entities:

   Investment properties / property held for sale                 95,557            1,787,909 

   Less: Share of interest bearing liabilities (92,274) (1,443,137)

   Add: Share of other net assets                   1,017                 60,185 

Total interest in jointly controlled entities                   4,300               404,957 

Tota l  non-current assets            1,512,350 404,957

Tota l  assets            1,582,694 406,602

Current l iabi l i t ies

Payables 12                 28,855                   1,786 

Derivative financial instruments 13                        -                   45,645 

Interest bearing liabilities 14               298,113                   1,296 

Tota l  current l iabi l i t ies               326,968                 48,727 

Non-current l iabi l i t ies

Interest bearing liabilities 14               709,442                        -  

Tota l  non-current l iabi l i t ies               709,442                        -  

Tota l  l iabi l i t ies            1,036,410                 48,727 

Net assets 546,284 357,875

Equity

Contributed equity 15            1,141,756 945,040

Reserves 16 (170,512) (165,517)

Accumulated losses 17 (425,060) (421,648)

Capita l and rese rves a ttributable  to owners of  EDT Reta i l  Trust               546,184 357,875

Non-controlling interests 100                        -  

Tota l  equity               546,284 357,875

              Consol ida ted

 

The above Statement of Financial Position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes 
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 Statement of Changes in Equity 

 

Consol idated Non-

Contributed Accumula ted Control l ing Tota l

Equity Reserves Losses Tota l Interest Equity

$ ’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Tota l  equity a t 1 J uly 2009 945,040 (165,517) (421,648) 357,875                 -   357,875

Total comprehensive income                        -   (4,995) (3,412) (8,407) 1 (8,406)

Transactions with owners in  the ir capac ity as 
owners
Contributions of equity net of equity issue costs 196,716                        -                        -   196,716                 -   196,716

Non-controlling interests recognised upon consolidation of

controlled entities -                        -                        -   - 99 99

Tota l  equity a t 30 June 2010            1,141,756 (170,512) (425,060)       546,184               100       546,284 

Tota l  equity a t 1 J uly 2008 939,657 (288,507) 214,459 865,609                  -   865,609

Total comprehensive income                        -   122,990 (616,356) (493,366)                  -   (493,366)

Transactions with owners in  the ir capac ity as 
owners
Distributions reinvested net of transaction costs 5,383                        -                        -   5,383                  -   5,383

Distributions paid or payable                        -                          -   (19,751) (19,751)                  -   (19,751)

Tota l  equity a t 30 June 2009 945,040 (165,517) (421,648) 357,875                  -   357,875  

The above Statement of Changes in Equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes 
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Statement of Cash Flows  

 

2010 2009

Note $’000 $’000

Cash f lows f rom opera ting activ ities

Property rental income received 119,966                        -  

Property expenses paid (29,362)                        -  

Distributions received from investments in jointly controlled entities 6,928 28,052

Interest income received 96 119

Net (payments) / proceeds for derivative financial instruments (85,729) 11,932
Other operating expenses paid (11,735) (2,145)

US withholding tax paid (941) (7,827)

Net cash f lows f rom opera ting activ ities 21 (a) (777) 30,131

Cash f lows f rom investing ac tivi ties

Payments for investments in jointly controlled entities - (16,218)

Capital expenditure on investment properties (6,057)                        -  

Proceeds from sale of investment properties 6,143                        -  

Net cash acquired upon consolidation of investment in controlled entities 21(c) 34,762                        -  

Ne t cash f lows f rom investing ac tivi ties 34,848 (16,218)

Cash f lows f rom f inanc ing ac tiv i ties

Proceeds from borrowings  - 679

Repayment of borrowings (135,014)                        -  

Proceeds from issues of units               208,338                        -  

Equity issue costs paid (11,621) (11)

Finance costs (56,657) (375)

Distributions paid to unitholders - (14,357)

Net cash f lows f rom f inanc ing ac tiv i ties 5,046 (14,064)

Net increase /  (decrease )  in  cash and cash equiva lents 39,117 (151)

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 958 533

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents (918) 576

Cash and cash equiva lents a t the  end of  the  year 7 39,157 958

              Consol ida ted

 

The above Statement of Cash Flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes 
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Notes to the financial statements 

1. Summary of significant accounting policies 

The significant policies which have been adopted in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements for the 
financial year ended 30 June 2010 are set out below. These policies have been consistently applied to the years presented, 
unless otherwise stated.  The financial statements are for the consolidated entity consisting of EDT Retail Trust (formerly 
known as Macquarie DDR Trust) and its controlled entities. 

(a) Basis of preparation 

These general purpose financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Trust 
Constitution, Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Act 2001. 

Compliance with IFRS as issued by IASB 

Compliance with Australian Accounting Standards ensures that the financial statements comply with International 
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB). 
Consequently, these financial statements have also been prepared in accordance with and comply with IFRS as 
issued by the IASB. 

Historical cost convention 

The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, as modified by the revaluation of 
investment properties and derivative financial instruments held at fair value. 

Critical accounting estimates 

The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with Australian Accounting Standards may require the use 
of certain critical accounting estimates and management to exercise its judgment in the process of applying the 
Trust’s accounting policies. Other than the estimation of fair values described in notes 1(h) and 1(w) and 
assumptions relating to deferred tax liabilities, no key assumptions concerning the future, or other estimation of 
uncertainty at the reporting date, have a significant risk of causing material adjustments to the financial statements in 
the next annual reporting period. 

Financial statement presentation 

The Trust has applied the revised AASB 101 Presentation of Financial Statements which became effective on 1 
January 2009. The revised standard requires the separate presentation of an income statement and a statement of 
changes in equity. All non-owner changes in equity must now be presented in the statement of comprehensive 
income. As a consequence, the Trust had to change the presentation of its financial statements. Comparative 
information has been re-presented so that it is also in conformity with the revised standard.  

(b)      Principles of consolidation 

During the year, the Trust completed the redemption of Developers Diversified Realty’s (DDR) ownership in the 
largest of its three jointly controlled entities with the Trust, DDR Macquarie Fund LLC (US LLC), which prior to the 
redemption was owned by the Trust and DDR, indirectly through their mutual interest in Macquarie DDR US Trust 
Inc. (US REIT I) and DDR’s direct interest in US LLC. DDR’s direct and indirect ownership in the US LLC Joint 
Venture was redeemed in exchange for three jointly owned properties and a cash payment of US$1.6 million from 
DDR to the Trust. The redemption was approved by unitholders at a General Meeting held on 19 October 2009. 

Prior to the redemption, the Trust did not have the ability to make the strategic financial and operating decisions, 
including final investment and divestment decisions, for any of its three joint venture entities with DDR (US LLC, DDR 
MDT PS LLC (PS LLC), DDR MDT MV LLC (MV LLC)) without the need for an affirmative vote by representatives of 
DDR.  
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1. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

 (b) Principles of consolidation (continued) 

While the Trust had ownership interests of 85.48% in US LLC and 90.24% in PS LLC, all major decisions for 
each of US LLC, PS LLC and MV LLC were required to be approved by members of the LLC’s which included 
the respective US REITS (US REIT I in the case of US LLC and Macquarie DDR Trust US Trust II (US REIT II) in 
the case of PS LLC and MV LLC) and DDR. The US REIT boards consisted of 3 DDR representatives and 3 
Trust representatives. On the basis that joint control existed, the Trust’s investments in US REIT I, US REIT II, US 
LLC, PS LLC and MV LLC were all equity accounted.  

As part of the redemption transaction the US REIT boards were reconstituted to comprise only directors 
selected by the Trust and the US Manager was now obligated to comply with the directions of the board of 
directors of US REIT I with regard to all matters related to US LLC. The Trust now controlled US REIT I and US 
REIT II as it had sole voting rights on the US REIT boards and the Trust now controlled US LLC as it now had 
the ability to make the strategic financial and operating decisions, including the final investment and divestment 
decisions relating to US LLC’s assets, without the need for any approval from DDR. As a result the equity 
method of accounting is no longer appropriate for the Trust’s interest in US REIT I, US REIT II and US LLC and 
these investments have been consolidated from 19 October 2009, being the date that control was obtained. 

Post the redemption transaction, for as long as DDR maintains an ownership in PS LLC and MV LLC (currently 
9.66% in PS LLC and 50.0% in MV LLC), the previously existing management arrangements for major decisions 
remain. As these entities remain jointly controlled by the Trust and DDR, they continue to be equity accounted. 

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the assets and liabilities of the Trust’s controlled entities as at 
30 June 2010 and their results for the year then ended from the date control was obtained. EDT Retail Trust 
(formerly known as Macquarie DDR Trust) and its controlled entities together are referred to in these financial 
statements as the consolidated entity or the Group. The effects of all transactions between entities in the 
consolidated entity have been eliminated in full.  

 
Controlled entities are those entities over which the Trust has the power to govern the financial and operating 
policies.  
 
Non-controlling interests are those interests in partly owned subsidiaries which are not held directly or indirectly 
by the Trust. 
 
Where control of an entity is obtained during a financial year, its results are included in the Income Statement 
from the date on which control commences. Where control of an entity ceases during a financial year, its results 
are included for that part of the period during which control existed (see note 10). 
 
As a result of the DDR redemption, the investments in US REIT I, US REIT II and US LLC were consolidated into 
the Trust from 19 October 2009. The effect on the Trust’s financial statements on 19 October 2009 was an 
increase in investment properties of $1.37 billion, an increase in interest bearing liabilities of $1.05 billion, and an 
increase in net working capital of $19 million.  

(c) Trust formation 

The Trust was established on 29 September 2003. The operations of the Trust commenced with the purchase 
of property investments in the United States on 21 November 2003, through its then jointly controlled entities. 

 

 



EDT Retail Trust (formerly known as Macquarie DDR Trust) 

Directors’ declaration to unitholders 
for year ended 30 June 2010 
  
 
 
 

PAGE 23 

1. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

(d) Excess of current liabilities over current assets  

The financial statements for the Group as at 30 June 2010 have been prepared on a going concern basis as the 
directors of the Responsible Entity, after reviewing the Group’s going concern status, have concluded that the Group 
has reasonable grounds to expect to be able to pay its debts as and when they become due and payable. 

As at 30 June 2010 the Group had a net current asset deficiency of $256.6 million. Included in current liabilities are 
the following facilities which mature within the next 12 months: 

• The US$145.1 million ($172.6 million) Longhorn II Commercial Mortgage Backed Securities (CMBS) facility which 
currently matures on 5 October 2010; and 

• The US$107.5 million ($127.8 million) Bison facility which matures in June 2011. 

The Longhorn II CMBS facility matures, after a short term extension option was exercised, on 5 October 2010. The 
Group is in advanced negotiations with new lenders and has entered into a non-binding signed term sheet to 
refinance the existing facility with a long term facility. It is expected this refinancing will be completed prior to the 
maturity date. In the event that the refinancing is not completed the directors would pursue other refinancing options. 

The Bison CMBS facility originally matured on 11 June 2009. In December 2009, the servicer of the facility agreed to 
provide an extension to June 2011. This US$107.5 million facility which is non-recourse to the Trust is separately 
secured on thirteen properties which have a book value of US$181.0 million at 30 June 2010. The loan to value ratio 
is 59.4% and, assuming no deterioration in market conditions, the Group intends to complete the refinancing of this 
facility with another lender prior to its maturity date. 

Investment properties in the controlled entities and jointly controlled entities are valued based on a price which would 
be achieved between willing parties in an arm’s length transaction. If the Group were unable to refinance the above 
facilities before maturity the lender may enforce repayment of an amount owing and the Group would become a 
distressed seller of certain assets. The amounts recoverable from the sale of such investment properties may 
materially differ to that recorded in the financial statements.  

The Trust’s investment in the MV LLC joint venture entity was equity accounted to nil in the six months ended 31 
December 2009. The Trust has no obligation to provide further funding of this portfolio. As a result, the Group no 
longer recognises further losses from this portfolio as part of the equity accounted profit or loss from jointly controlled 
entities and the portfolio provides no contribution to the Group’s Net Tangible Assets (NTA). 

Due to the likelihood of not being able to retrieve any equity value from this portfolio and significant additional capital 
being required, the Trust, DDR and the loan servicer are now progressing to jointly request that a court appoint a 
third party receiver to manage and liquidate the remaining assets within the portfolio. 

In December 2008, Mervyns (the tenant of the properties in this portfolio) entered Chapter 11 and all 37 stores in this 
portfolio were closed. To date 10 of these stores have been sold and 7 stores have been leased to new tenants.  

The Mervyn’s facility is a non-recourse first mortgage facility of US$158.8 million (EDT share US$79.3 million) 
secured against 27 assets as at 30 June 2010 valued at US$140.1 million (EDT share US$70.0 million).  

The loan is non-recourse and there is no obligation for any entities in the Group to provide further equity to the lender 
or joint venture. 
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1. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

(e) Cash and Cash Equivalents 

For the purpose of presentation in the Statement of Cash Flows, cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand, 
deposits held at call with financial institutions, other short-term, highly liquid investments with original maturities of 
three months or less that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant 
risk of changes in value, and bank overdrafts. Bank overdrafts are shown within interest bearing liabilities in current 
liabilities in the Statement of Financial Position.   

 (f) Receivables 

Receivables are carried at the amounts due to the Group and are generally received within 30 days of becoming due 
and receivable. Receivables due from tenants are expected to be collected within 30 to 60 days. 

The collectability of debts is reviewed on an ongoing basis. Debts which are known to be uncollectable are written 
off in the period in which they are identified. A provision for doubtful debts is raised where there is objective evidence 
that the Trust will not collect all amounts due. The amount of the provision is the difference between the carrying 
amount and estimated future cash flows. Cash flows relating to current receivables are not discounted. 

The amount of any impairment loss is recognised in the Income Statement in other expenses if the receivable is held 
by the Trust or in net property income if the receivable is held in the controlled entities. When a trade receivable for 
which a provision has been recognised becomes uncollectable in a subsequent period, it is written off against the 
provision. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited against other expenses in the 
Income Statement for those trade receivables held by the Trust or net property income for those trade receivables 
held by controlled entities.  

(g) Interest in jointly controlled entities 

The Trust also holds property investments through its jointly controlled entities. The Trust exercises joint control over 
its jointly controlled entities but neither the Trust nor its joint venture partner has control in their own right, irrespective 
of their ownership interest.  

Accordingly, interests in jointly controlled entities are accounted for using the equity method of accounting, after 
initially being recognised at cost. Under this method, the Trust’s share of the profits or losses of each jointly 
controlled entity is recognised as income in the Income Statement, and its share of movements in reserves is 
recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income. 

During the six months ended 31 December 2009, the investment in MV LLC was equity accounted to nil and the 
Trust has no obligation to provide further funding of this portfolio. As a result, no additional losses are recognised 
with respect to MV LLC, with profits only being recognised to the extent they exceed the previously unrecognised 
loss. 

Details of the jointly controlled entities are set out in note 10. 

 (h) Investment properties 

Investment properties comprise investment interests in land and buildings (including integral plant and equipment) 
held for the purpose of letting to produce rental income.   

Initially, investment properties are measured at cost including transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, the 
investment properties are then stated at fair value. Gains and losses arising from changes in the fair values of 
investment properties are included in the Income Statement in the period in which they arise. 

At each reporting date, the fair values of the investment properties are assessed by the Responsible Entity by 
reference to independent valuation reports or through appropriate valuation techniques adopted by the Responsible 
Entity. Fair value is determined assuming a long term investment period. Specific circumstances of the owner are not 
taken into account. 
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1. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

(h) Investment properties (continued) 

The factors taken into account in assessing internal valuations may include:  
— Assuming a willing buyer and a willing seller, without duress and an appropriate time to market the property to 

maximise price; 
— Information obtained from valuers, sales and leasing agents, market research reports, vendors and potential 

purchasers; 
— Capitalisation rates used to value the asset, market rental levels and lease expiries; 
— Changes in interest rates; 
— Asset replacement values; 
— Discounted cash flow models; 
— Available sales evidence; and 
— Comparisons to valuation professionals performing valuation assignments across the market. 

The approach adopted for valuing the investment property portfolio at 30 June 2010 was consistent with that 
adopted at previous reporting periods and was as follows: 

— If the most recent independent valuation was more than 3 years old, a new external valuation was obtained; and 
— Internal valuations were performed by Macquarie Real Estate Inc. (MREI) (formerly known as Macquarie Asset 

Services Limited (MASL)) on all other properties primarily using net operating income and a capitalisation rate as 
assessed by using market research reports and the valuations that were undertaken by the external valuers 
where appropriate.  If this internal valuation significantly differed from the current book value of the property, an 
external valuation was also obtained for this property.  

Due to the volatility in the real estate markets, application of the policy has resulted in 21 investment properties 
being independently valued at 30 June 2010. 

The global market for many types of real estate has been severely affected by the recent volatility in global 
financial markets. The lower levels of liquidity and volatility in the banking sector have translated into a general 
weakening of market sentiment towards real estate and the number of real estate transactions has significantly 
reduced. 

Fair value of investment property is the price at which the property could be exchanged between 
knowledgeable, willing parties in an arm's length transaction. A "willing seller" is neither a forced seller nor one 
prepared to sell at a price not considered reasonable in the current market. The best evidence of fair value is 
given by current prices in an active market for similar property in the same location and condition. The current 
lack of comparable market evidence relating to pricing assumptions and market drivers means that there is less 
certainty in regards to valuations and the assumptions applied to valuation inputs. The period of time needed to 
negotiate a sale in this environment may also be significantly prolonged. 

The fair value of investment property has been adjusted to reflect market conditions at the end of the reporting 
period. While this represents the best estimates of fair value as at the balance sheet date, the current market 
uncertainty means that if investment property is sold in future the price achieved may be higher or lower than the 
most recent valuation, or higher or lower than the fair value recorded in the financial statements. 

The carrying amount of investment properties recorded in the Statement of Financial Position includes 
components relating to lease incentives and assets relating to fixed increases in operating lease rentals in future 
periods. 
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1. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued) 

 (h) Investment properties (continued) 

As the fair value method has been adopted for investment properties, the buildings and any component thereof 
(including plant and equipment) are not depreciated. Taxation allowances for the depreciation of buildings and plant 
and equipment are claimed by the Trust and contribute to the tax deferred component of distributions. 

At each reporting date the Directors update their assessment of the fair value of each property, taking into account 
the most recent independent valuations.  The Trust determines a property’s value within a range of reasonable fair 
value estimates. 

The below table illustrates the key valuation assumptions used in the determination of the investment properties fair 
value. 

 
 2010 2010 2009 2009 

 
Core shopping 

centre 
Single Box 
Portfolio 

Core shopping 
centre 

Single Box 
Portfolio 

 % % % % 
Weighted average capitalisation rate 8.5% 12.6% 8.4% 12.9% 
Weighted average lease expiry (years) 5.1* 11.3** 5.1* N/A 
Vacancy 11.5% 77.3% 11.9% 93.8% 

*Weighted by ABR (Annual Base Rate) 
**Weighted by GLA (Gross Lettable Area) 
***PS LLC properties (in Core shopping centre portfolio) and MV LLC (Single Box Portfolio) are included within interests in jointly controlled 
entities. 

The above key assumptions have been taken from the latest independent valuation reports for the 21 investment 
properties that were independently valued at 30 June 2010, which includes investment property in both controlled 
entities and jointly controlled entities.  

In addition to the key assumptions set out in the table above, vacancy and let up period ranges from 6 to 24 months 
and tenant retention ranges from 60% to 75%. 

(i) Leases  

Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership are not transferred to the Group as lessee 
are classified as operating leases. Payments made under operating leases (net of any incentives received from the 
lessor) are charged to the profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease. 

Lease income from operating leases where the group is a lessor is recognised in income on a straight-line basis over 
the lease term. The respective leased assets are included in the balance sheet based on their nature. 

(j) Derivatives 

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the date a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently 
remeasured to their fair value at each balance date. The method of recognising the resulting gain or loss depends on 
whether the derivative is designated as a hedging instrument, and if so, the nature of the item being hedged. The 
Trust may designate certain derivatives as either hedges of net investments in foreign operations (net investment 
hedges) or hedges of exposures to variability in cash flows associated with future interest payments on variable rate 
debt (cash flow hedges). 
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1. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)  

 (j) Derivatives (continued) 

The Trust documents at the inception of the hedging transaction the relationship between hedging instruments and 
hedged items, as well as its risk management objective and strategy for undertaking various hedge transactions. The 
Trust also documents its assessment, both at hedge inception and on an ongoing basis, of whether the derivatives 
that are used in hedging transactions have been and will continue to be highly effective in offsetting changes in fair 
values or cash flows of hedged items. 

 (i) Derivatives that do not qualify for hedge accounting 

Certain derivative instruments do not qualify for hedge accounting. Changes in the fair value of any  derivative 
instrument that does not qualify for hedge accounting is recognised immediately in the Income Statement. 

(ii) Net investment hedges 

The effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualify as net 
investment hedges is recognised in the foreign currency translation reserve. This amount will be reclassified 
into the Income Statement on disposal of the foreign operations. The gain or loss relating to the ineffective 
portion is recognised immediately in the Income Statement. 

Gains and losses accumulated in equity are included in the Income Statement when the foreign operation is 
partially disposed of or sold. 

(iii)     Cash flow hedges 

The effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualify as cash flow 
hedges is recognised in the cash flow hedge reserve. The gain or loss relating to the ineffective portion is 
recognised immediately in the Income Statement. 

Amounts accumulated in equity are recycled in the Income Statement in the period when the hedged item 
impacts the Income Statement.  

When a hedging instrument expires or is sold or terminated, or when a hedge no longer meets the criteria for 
hedge accounting, any cumulative gain or loss existing in equity at that time remains in equity and is 
recognised when the forecast transaction is ultimately recognised in the Income Statement. When a forecast 
transaction is no longer expected to occur, the cumulative gain or loss that was reported in equity is 
immediately transferred to the Income Statement. 

(k) Payables 

Liabilities are recognised for amounts to be paid in the future for goods or services received, whether or not billed to 
the Group. The amounts are unsecured and are usually paid within 30 or 60 days of recognition. 

(l) Distributions 

Provision is made for the amount of any distribution declared, being appropriately authorised and no longer at the 
discretion of the entity, on or before the end of the reporting period but not distributed at the end of the reporting 
period.  

(m) Interest bearing liabilities 

Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred and are subsequently measured at 
amortised cost. Any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption amount is 
recognised in the Income Statement over the period of the borrowing using the effective interest rate method. Fees 
paid on the establishment of loan facilities, which are not an incremental cost relating to the actual drawdown of the 
facility, are recognised as prepayments and amortised on a straight line basis over the term of the facility. 
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1. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)  

(n) Revenue Recognition  

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable. Amounts disclosed as revenue are 
net of returns, trade allowances, rebates and amounts collected on behalf of third parties.  

The Group recognises revenue when the amount of revenue can be reliably measured, it is probable that future 
economic benefits will flow to the entity and specific criteria have been met for each of the Group’s activities as 
described below. The Group bases its estimates on historical results, taking into consideration the type of customer, 
the type of transaction and specifics of each arrangement. 

  (i)  Rental income 
The Group leases real estate to its customers under long-term net leases that are classified as operating 

leases. Rental income from investment property is recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over 

the term of the lease. Lease origination fees and internal direct lease origination costs, including employee 

compensation directly related to time spent performing successful lease origination activities, are deferred 

and amortised over the related lease term. Lease incentives granted are recognised as an integral part of the total 
rental income, over the term of the lease. 

The leases generally provide for rent escalations throughout the lease term. For these leases, the revenue 

is recognised on a straight line basis so as to produce a constant periodic rent over the term of the lease. 

Accordingly, accrued rental revenue recognised on a straight line basis, represents unbilled rent receivables 

that the Group will receive only if the tenant makes all rent payments required through the expiration of the 

initial term of the lease. 

The leases may also provide for contingent rent based on a percentage of the lessee’s gross sales or 

contingent rent indexed to further increases in the Consumer Price Index (CPI). For contingent rentals that 

are based on a percentage of the lessee’s gross sales, the Group recognises contingent rental revenue 

when the change in the factor on which the contingent lease payment is based actually occurs.  

Rental revenues for lease escalations indexed to future increases in the CPI are recognised only after the changes 

in the index have occurred. 

(ii)    Interest income 

Interest Income is recognised using the effective interest method. When a receivable is impaired, the Group reduces 
the carrying amount to its recoverable amount, being the estimated future cash flow discounted at the original 
effective interest rate of the instrument, and continues unwinding the discount as interest income. Interest income on 
impaired loans is recognised using the original effective interest rate. 

(o) Finance costs 

Finance costs, excluding interest expense, are recognised as prepayments and amortised on a straight line basis 
over the term of the related borrowing facility. 

(p) Income tax  

Under current Australian income tax legislation, the Trust is not liable to pay income tax provided its taxable income 
(including assessable realised capital gains) is fully distributed to unitholders, by way of cash or reinvestment.  

US REIT I and US REIT II have elected to be taxed as Real Estate Investment Trusts (REITs) under US federal 
taxation law, and on this basis, will generally not be subject to US income taxes on that portion of the US REITs’ 
taxable income or capital gains which are distributable to the US REITs’ shareholders, provided that the US REITs 
comply with the requirements of the US Internal Revenue Code of 1986 and maintain their REIT status. 
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1. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)  

(p) Income tax (continued) 

The US REITs may ultimately realise a capital gain or loss on disposal which may attract a US income tax liability if 
the proceeds from disposal are not reinvested in a qualifying asset. If the capital gain is realised, it may give rise to a 
foreign tax credit which would be available to unitholders. A deferred tax liability is recognised based on the 
temporary difference between the carrying amount of the assets in the Statement of Financial Position and their 
associated tax cost bases.  

A current tax liability is recognised in the financial statements for realised gains on disposals of US investments, 
except where the proceeds of such disposals are reinvested in a qualifying asset. 

(q) Goods and services tax (GST) 

Income, expenses, assets and liabilities are recognised net of the amount of GST recoverable from the Australian 

Taxation Office (ATO). The non-recoverable GST is recognised as part of the income, expense, asset or liability.  

Receivables and payables are stated at amounts inclusive of GST. The net amount of GST recoverable from or 
payable to the ATO is included in receivables or payables in the Statement of Financial Position. Cash flows relating 
to GST are included in the Statement of Cash Flows on a gross basis. 

(r) Equity transaction costs 

Transaction costs arising on the issue of equity are recognised directly in equity as a reduction in the proceeds of 
units to which the costs relate. 

(s) Reserves 

In accordance with the Trust Constitution, amounts may be transferred from reserves to fund distributions. 

(t) Foreign currency translation 

(i)  Functional and presentation currencies 

Items included in the financial statements of the Trust are measured using the currency of the primary economic 
environment in which the Trust operates (‘the functional currency’). The consolidated financial statements are 
presented in Australian dollars, which is the Trust’s functional and presentation currency. 

(ii)  Transactions and balances 

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using exchange rates prevailing at the date 
of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from 
the translation at year end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are 
recognised in the Income Statement, except when deferred in equity as qualifying cash flow hedges and qualifying 
net investment hedges or are attributable to part of the net investment in a foreign operation. 

(iii)  Foreign operations 

Transactions of foreign equity accounted jointly controlled entities are measured using the currency of the primary 
economic environment in which those entities operate. Assets and liabilities of foreign equity accounted jointly 
controlled entities are translated at exchange rates ruling at balance date while income and expenses are translated 
at average exchange rates for the period. Exchange differences arising on translation of the interests in foreign equity 
accounted jointly controlled entities are taken directly to the foreign currency translation reserve.  

At 30 June 2010, the spot rate used was $1.00 = US$0.8411 (2009: $1.00 = US$0.8068). The average spot rate 
during the year ended 30 June 2010 was $1.00 = US$0.8824 (2009: $1.00 = US$0.7445).  
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1. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)  

(t) Foreign currency translation (continued) 

 iv)      Controlled entities 

The result and financial position of the controlled entities that have a functional currency different from the 
presentation currency are translated into the presentation currency as follows: 

— assets and liabilities for each balance sheet presented are translated at the closing rate at the date of the 
balance sheet 

— income and expenses for each Income Statement and Statement of Comprehensive Income item are 
translated at average exchange rates, and  

— all resulting exchange differences are recognised in other comprehensive income.  

At 30 June 2010, the spot rate used was $1.00 = US$0.8411. The average spot rate during the year ended 30 June 
2010 was $1.00 = US$0.8824. 

 (u) Segment information 

During the period the Trust adopted AASB 8 Operating Segments which replaces AASB 114 Segment Reporting. 
The new standard requires a ‘management approach’, under which segment information is presented on the same 
basis as that used for internal reporting purposes. This has resulted in a review of the reportable segments 
presented. In addition, the segments are reported in a manner that is more consistent with internal reporting 
provided to the chief operating decision maker. The chief operating decision maker has been identified as the Board 
of Directors as they are responsible for the strategic decision making within the Trust. Apart from the additional 
disclosures and measures reflected in the operating segments note (note 24), the adoption of AASB 8 has not had 
an impact on the measurements reflected in the Trust’s financial statements. Comparative information has been 
adjusted.  

(v) Earnings per unit 

Basic earnings per unit are determined by dividing the profit attributable to owners of the Trust by the weighted 
average number of ordinary units on issue during the financial period. 

Diluted earnings per unit adjusts the figures used in the determination of basic earnings per share to take into 
account the effect of interest and other financing costs associated with dilutive potential ordinary shares and the 
weighted average number of additional ordinary shares that would have been outstanding assuming the conversion 
of all dilutive potential ordinary shares. 

(w) Fair value estimation 

The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities must be estimated for recognition and measurement or for 
disclosure purposes. 

The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets is based on quoted market prices at the balance sheet 
date. The quoted market price used for financial assets held by the Trust is the current bid price; the appropriate 
quoted market price for financial liabilities is the current ask price. 

The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market is determined using valuation 
techniques.  The Trust uses a variety of methods and makes assumptions that are based on market conditions 
existing at each balance date. Other techniques, such as estimated discounted cash flows, are used to determine 
fair value for the remaining financial instruments. The fair value of interest rate swaps is calculated as the present 
value of the estimated future cash flows. The fair value of forward exchange contracts is determined using forward 
exchange market rates at the balance sheet date. 

The nominal value less estimated credit adjustments of trade receivables and payables approximate their fair values.  
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1. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)  

(w) Fair value estimation (continued) 

The fair value of financial liabilities for disclosure purposes is estimated by discounting the future contractual cash 
flows at the current market interest rate that is available to the Trust for similar financial instruments. 

 (x) New standards and Urgent Issues Group Interpretations 

In December 2009, the AASB issued AASB 9 Financial Instruments which addresses the classification and 
measurement of financial assets and is likely to affect the Trust’s accounting for its financial assets. The standard is 
not applicable until 1 January 2013 but is available for early adoption. The Group is yet to assess its full impact.  

(y) Parent entity financial information 

The financial information for the parent entity, EDT Retail Trust, disclosed in note 25 has been prepared on the same 
basis as the consolidated financial statements, except as set out below. 

(i) Investments in subsidiaries and jointly controlled entities 

Investments in subsidiaries and jointly controlled entities are accounted for at cost in the financial statements of EDT 
Retail Trust. Dividends received from subsidiaries are recognised in the parent entity’s profit or loss, rather than being 
deducted from the carrying amount of these investments. 

(z) Comparative figures 

Where necessary, comparative figures have been adjusted to conform with changes in presentation in the current 
period.  

(aa) Rounding of amounts 

The Trust is a registered scheme of a kind referred to in Class Order 98/0100 (as amended) issued by the Australian 
Securities & Investments Commission relating to the “rounding off” of amounts in the financial statements. Amounts 
in the financial statements have been rounded to the nearest thousand dollars in accordance with that Class Order, 
unless otherwise indicated. 

 

2. Profit for the year 

 

2010 2009

$’000 $’000

(a )  Net loss f rom deriva tive  f inanc ia l instruments

Gain / (loss) on derivative financial instruments - unrealised 66,554 (37,933)

Gain on capital hedging derivative financial instruments - realised - 15,675

(Loss) / gain on income hedging derivative financial instruments - realised (11,362) 4,836

Loss on other derivative financial instruments - realised (73,470) (6,022)

Net loss from derivative financial instruments (18,278) (23,444)

               Con so l idate d

 

 

 

 

 

 



EDT Retail Trust (formerly known as Macquarie DDR Trust) 

Directors’ declaration to unitholders 
for year ended 30 June 2010 
 
 
 
 

PAGE 32 

 
2. Profit for the year (continued) 

2010 2009

$’000 $’000

(b)  Other expenses

Amortisation of lease costs                   1,235  - 

Audit committee fees – independent directors 28                        28 

Compliance fees – independent directors                        90                        90 

Custodian fees                        55                        56 

Legal fees                   1,618                      110 

Professional fees*                   3,071                      475 

Registry fees                      115                      115 

Travel                      123                      285 

Unitholder communications costs                      153                      188 

Other                      546                      455 

Total other expenses                   7,034                   1,802 

* Professional costs include audit and taxation fees detailed in note 4.

               Con so l idate d

 
Other expenses have been paid in accordance with the Trust Constitution. 
Included within other expenses are $3.7 million of costs attributable to US LLC which was consolidated from 19 October 
2009. In the prior year these expenses were included in share of net profits from jointly controlled entities. 

3. Income tax 

 

2010 2009

$’000 $’000

US withholding tax expense (941) (1,374)

US capital gains tax benefit  -               178,486 

Total tax (expense) / benefit (941)               177,112 

(a )  Reconc i l ia tion of  income tax expense  to prima fac ie  tax payable

Loss before income tax expense / (benefit) (2,469) (793,468)

Prima facie income tax on profit from continuing activities at the Australian tax rate 
of 0% (2009:0%)*                 -                          -  

US withholding tax expense (941) (1,374)

US capital gains tax benefit  -               178,486 

Income tax (expense) / benefit (941)               177,112 

(b)  Income tax (expense )  /  bene f it

Income tax (expense) / benefit comprises:

Current tax (941) (7,481)

Deferred tax  -               184,593 

Income tax (expense) / benefit (941)               177,112 

* Tax effect of Australian trust income is nil (refer note 1(p)).

               Con so l idate d
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4. Remuneration of auditors 

During the financial year, the auditor of the Trust, PricewaterhouseCoopers, earned the following remuneration: 

2010 2009
$ $

Amounts pa id or payable  to Pricewate rhouseCoopers Austra l ian f i rm for: 

Audit services               211,300               220,340 
Other services

    Taxation services                 15,796                 32,757 

    Transaction services               235,860  - 

Amounts pa id or payable  to Pricewate rhouseCoopers overseas f i rm for: 

Audit services               319,566                       -  

Other services

     Taxation services                 74,792                       -  

              857,314               253,097 

               Con so l idate d

 

In addition to the above fees, PricewaterhouseCoopers, US firm, earned $105,231 (2009: $278,731) in connection with the 
audit of the Trust’s jointly controlled entities and $28,985 (A$238,237) in connection with tax services for the Trust’s jointly 
controlled entities. These amounts represent the fees charged to the jointly controlled entities. The Trust’s share of the fees 
is recorded as share of net profits from jointly controlled entities.   

The decrease in fees charged to the jointly controlled entities and subsequent increase in the fees charged to the Group is 
partly as result of US LLC being consolidated from 19 October 2009. Fees in the prior year paid or payable to 
PricewaterhouseCoopers overseas firm was included in share of net profits from jointly controlled entities. 

 

5. Distributions paid and proposed 

There were no distributions paid or proposed for the year ended 30 June 2010 (2009: nil). 
 

6.  Earnings per unit 

 

2010 2009

Basic earnings per unit (cents) (0.31) (65.50)

Diluted earnings per unit (cents) (0.31) (65.50)

Core earnings per unit (cents) 2.61 7.32

(3,411) (616,356)

Earnings used in the calculation of core earnings per unit ($'000) (refer to note 24) 28,402 68,843

Weighted average number of units used in the calculation of basic, diluted and core earnings per unit 
('000)* 1,088,818 941,057

Earnings used in the calculation of basic and diluted earnings per unit ($'000)

               Con so l idate d

 

* Weighted average number of units is calculated from the date of issue of the units. 
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7. Cash and cash equivalents 

2010 2009

$’000 $’000

Australian dollar  accounts 3,893 30

US dollar accounts 35,264 928

                39,157                      958 

               Con so l idate d

 

Surplus funds of the Group are held at call in the Group’s operating accounts and treasury accounts. Interest is receivable 
monthly in arrears. As at 30 June 2010, the weighted average interest rate on the Australian dollar accounts was 3.75% per 
annum (2009: 1.94% per annum) and on the US dollar accounts was 0.38% per annum (2009: 0.12% per annum).  

(a) Cash not available for use 

US dollar accounts include amounts that have restrictions on their use. Certain balances may no longer be able to be 
distributed or utilised by the Group as lender restrictions may limit or require that the funds be used in a certain manner. 
Total restricted amounts are $8.5 million. 

 

8. Receivables 

2010 2009

$’000 $’000

Trade receivable                 21,802                        -  

GST receivable                      423                          4 

Withholding tax receivable  -                      110 

Sundry debtors                   2,921                      560 

Provision for impairment of trade receivables (note (a)) (4,587)                        -  

                20,559                      674 

               Con so l idate d

 

The Group’s receivables are carried at amounts that approximate their fair value.  

(a) Impaired trade receivables 

As at 30 June 2010 current trade receivables of the Group and its controlled entities with a nominal value of $11,830,387 
(2009: nil) were impaired. The amount of the provision was $4,587,000 (2009: nil). In the prior year trade receivables and 
the provision for impaired receivables were included in the total interest in jointly controlled entities. There were no impaired 
trade receivables for the Trust in 2010 or 2009. 

The ageing of these impaired receivables is as follows:  

1 to 3 months 1,794 -

3 to 6 months 122 -

Over 6 months 9,914 -

11,830 -  
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8. Receivables (continued) 

Movements in the provision for impairment of receivables are as follows: 

2010 2009

$’000 $’000

Provision at the beginning of the year - -
Transfer upon consolidation of investments in jointly controlled entities (3,557) -

Provision for impairment recognised during the year (1,429) -

Receivables written off during the year as uncollectible 399 -

Provision at the end of the year (4,587) -

               Con so l idate d

 

The creation and release of the provision for impaired receivables has been included in net property income in profit or loss. 
Amounts charged to the allowance account are generally written off when there is no expectation of recovering further 
cash.  

 

(b) Past due but not impaired 

As at 30 June 2010, trade receivables of $9,715,398 (2009: nil) were past due but not impaired. These relate to tenants 
that have no recent history of default. The ageing analysis of these trade receivables is as follows:   

2010 2009

$'000 $'000

Up to 3 months 8,852                        -  

3 to 6 months 56                        -  

Over 6 months 807                        -  

                  9,715                        -  

               Con so l idate d

 

The other classes within trade and other receivables do not contain impaired assets and are not past due. Based on credit 
history of these other classes, it is expected that these amounts will be received when due. The Group does not hold any 
collateral in relation to these receivables. 

 

9. Other assets 

2010 2009

$’000 $’000
Prepayments                   2,012                        13 

Other assets                   8,616                        -  

                10,628                        13 

               Con so l idate d
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10. Interest in jointly controlled entities 

The Trust has an interest in certain jointly controlled entities with Developers Diversified Realty (DDR). The Trust exercises 
joint control over the jointly controlled entities, as neither the Trust nor its joint venture partner has control in their own right, 
irrespective of their ownership interest. The investments are accounted for in the financial statements using the equity 
method of accounting (refer to note 1(g)).   

Information relating to the jointly controlled entities is detailed below. 

Country of

Jointly controlled entities incorporation Principal activity

EPN US Trust Inc. (US REIT I)* United States Property investment 99.98 97.32

EDT Fund LLC (US LLC)* United States Property investment 99.98 ** 85.48 **

EPN US Trust II Inc. (US REIT II)* United States Property investment 99.91 99.90

DDR MDT MV LLC (MV LLC) United States Property investment 49.95 *** 49.95 ***

DDR MDT PS LLC (PS LLC) United States Property investment 90.25 *** 90.24 ***

Ownership interest

%

20092010

%

 

*  As a result of the DDR redemption, the investments in US REIT I, US REIT II and US LLC were consolidated by EDT from 19 October 
2009, (see note 1(b)). These entities are no longer accounted for as jointly controlled entities (see note 1(b)).  

**  Represents indirect interest held through US REIT I. 

***  Represents indirect interest held through US REIT II. 

 

(i) Carrying amount of interest in jointly controlled entities 

 

2010 2009

Note $’000 $’000

Carrying amount at the beginning of the year 404,957 952,677

Additions during the year - 16,218

Share of profit before property valuation losses 10(ii) 2,243 49,070

Share of property valuation losses 10(ii) (5,028) (781,482)

Movement in share of cash flow hedge reserve 319 (9,674)

Distributions paid or payable for the year (6,928) (28,052)

Exchange  rate differences on translation (52,269) 206,200

Transfer to investment in controlled entities on consolidation 1(b) (338,994)                        -  

Carrying amount a t the  end of  the  year 4,300 404,957

              Con so l idate d
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10. Interest in jointly controlled entities (continued) 

(ii) Results attributable to jointly controlled entities (Trust’s share) 

2010 2009
$’000 $’000

Property income 

Property income                 60,873               254,647 

Property expenses (23,478) (81,219)

Net property income 37,395 173,428

Management fees

Management base fee (2,567) (10,071)

Total management fee (2,567) (10,071)

Finance  costs

Interest expense (25,618) (78,228)

Borrowing establishment costs - amortisation (984) (5,338)

Total finance costs (26,602) (83,566)

Loss on sa le  of  property

Loss on sale of property* (862) (7,904)

Total loss on sale of property (862) (7,904)

Other income and expenses

Interest income 12 320

Derivative financial instrument loss (2,973) (14,363)

Other operating expenses (2,160) (8,774)

Total other income and expenses (5,121) (22,817)

Share  of  net prof i t f rom investments in  jointly control led entities 

be fore  property va luation losses 2,243 49,070

Property va lua tion ga ins /  ( losses)

Revaluation of investment properties -                 13,202 

Devaluation of investment properties (4,824) (795,113)

Revaluation of investment properties - adjustment for straight lining of  fixed rent 
increases (204) 429
Tota l property va luation losses (5,028) (781,482)

Share  of  net loss f rom investments in jointly control led enti ties (2,785) (732,412)

               Con so l idate d

 

*  During the year, the Trust sold five properties within MV LLC for US$30.5 million (approximately $35.7 million). The Trust’s interest in 
the properties was 49.95%. A loss on sale was recorded in the year of $3.6 million. Trust’s share was $0.2 million as no further 
losses have been recognised after the six months ended 31 December 2009 when MV LLC was equity accounted to nil. 

 Prior to the date that US LLC was consolidated, the Trust sold four properties for US$91.0 million (approximately $107.6 million). The 
Trust’s interest in the properties was 85.48%. A loss on sale was recorded in the period of $0.8 million. Trust’s share was 
$0.7million. 
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10. Interest in jointly controlled entities (continued) 

(iii) Share of jointly controlled entities’ assets and liabilities 

 

2010 2009

$’000 $’000

Current assets

Cash and restricted cash*                   2,326 80,792

Property held for sale                   1,746 99,343

Other assets                 14,574 28,064

Total current assets                 18,646 208,199

Non-current assets

Investment properties               176,779 1,688,566

Total non-current assets 176,779 1,688,566

Tota l  assets 195,425 1,896,765

Current l iabi l i t ies

Derivative financial instruments  - 23,518

Interest bearing liabilities               106,775 716,055

Other liabilities                   3,037 25,153

Total current liabilities 109,812 764,726

Non-current l iabi l i t ies

Interest bearing liabilities                 92,274 727,082

Total non-current liabilities 92,274 727,082

Tota l  l iabi l i t ies 202,086 1,491,808

Net assets ** (6,661) 404,957

               Con so l idate d

 

*  Restricted cash of $nil (2009: $39.7 million) is funds released from the Mervyns Letter of Credit placed in a lender’s controlled 
account to be applied against fitout costs to re-lease the property. In May 2010, this letter of credit has been applied against the loan 
facility.  

**  The investment in MV LLC has a net assets deficiency of $11.0 million at 30 June 2010. The Trust’s investment in MV LLC was 
equity accounted to nil in the six months ended 31 December 2009. This increases the value of Investments in joint venture entities in 
the Statement of Financial Position to $4.3 million when the deficiency is added back to the value of $6.7 million above. 

 

As a result of the DDR redemption, the assets and liabilities of US LLC, US REIT I and US REIT II are no longer included in 
the share of joint venture entities’ assets and liabilities at 30 June 2010, as they have been consolidated with the assets 
and liabilities of the Trust. Refer to note 10(i) for a reconciliation of the movement in the carrying amount of interest in jointly 
controlled entities during the year.  

The jointly controlled entities have no contingent liabilities or capital commitments at 30 June 2010 (2009: $nil). 
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11. Investment properties 

2010 2009

Note $’000 $’000

At Fa ir va lue

Ba lance a t the  beginn ing of  the  year                        -                          -  

Additions during the period 6,057                        -  

Transfer to investment properties upon consolidation of investments in jointly 
controlled entities* 1,367,199                        -  
Disposals during the period (6,143)                        -  

Net property devaluations (99)                        -  

Exchange  rate differences on translation 141,036                        -  

Ba lance a t the  end of  the  year 1,508,050                        -  

              Con so l idate d

 

* As a result of the DDR redemption, the investment properties held in US LLC were consolidated by EDT from 19 
October 2009. The impact of $1.37 billion is shown in the table above. Refer to note 1(h) for investment property 
valuation basis.  

(i) Valuation basis 

The Trust obtains independent valuations in accordance with the policy set out in note 1(h). The directors update their 
assessment of the fair value of each property, taking into account the most recent independent valuations. Please refer to 
note 1(h). 

At the end of the reporting period, the key assumptions used in determining fair value were in the following ranges for the 
Group’s portfolio of properties: 

 

Independent 
Valuations

Directors 
Valuations

Range Range

Discount Rate 8.50% - 12.50% N/a

Terminal yield 8.0% - 9.75% N/a

Capitalisation rate 7.50% - 9.25% 7.50% - 14.25%

Expected vacancy rate 3.00% - 11.00% 0.00% - 10.00%

Rental growth rate 0% - 1% 0%  

 (ii) Non-current assets pledged as security 

Refer to note 14 for information on non current assets pledged as security. 

(iii) Contractual obligations 

There are no contractual obligations related to investment properties at the end of the period. 
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11. Investment properties (continued) 

(iv) Leasing arrangements 

Some of the investment properties are leased to tenants under long term operating leases with rentals payable monthly. 
Minimum lease payments receivable on leases of investment properties are as follows: 

2010 2009

$’000 $’000

Minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating lease of investment 
properties not recognised in the financial statements are receivable as follows:

Within one year 103,574 -

Later than one year but not later than 5 years 301,324 -

Later than 5 years 150,967 -

555,865 -

               Con so l idate d

 

 

12. Payables  

$’000 $’000

Trade payable 783                        -  

Custodian fees                        28                        14 

Real estate taxes payable                 13,918                        -  

Interest payable                   3,285                        -  

Withholding tax payable                      195                        -  

                       -                     1,292 

Sundry creditors and accruals                 10,646                      480 

                28,855                   1,786 

Amounts payable to settle derivative contracts closed before year end

               Con so l idate d

 

 

13. Derivative financial instruments 

 

2010 2009

$’000 $’000

Liabi l i t ies

Current

Forward foreign exchange contracts                        -                   11,148 

Interest rate swaps                        -                   28,289 

Callable interest rate swaps                        -                     6,208 

                       -   45,645

               Con so l idate d

 

Forward foreign exchange contracts 

The Trust entered into forward foreign exchange contracts to sell US dollars and receive Australian dollars. The last of these 
forward contracts had a maturity date of August 2013.  
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13. Derivative financial instruments (continued) 

On 9 January 2009, the Trust entered into offsetting foreign exchange forward agreements for 96% of its currency income 
hedge exposures. Accordingly, changes in the fair value of these contracts from 9 January 2009 are recorded in the 
Income Statement. The change in fair value up to 9 January 2009 of $73.5 million was recorded in the foreign currency 
translation reserve, while the remainder was recognised in the Income Statement in the prior period.  

On 13 May 2010, the Trust cancelled the remaining foreign exchange forward contracts resulting in a loss of $11.1 million. 
As at 30 June 2010, the Trust has no forward foreign exchange contracts. 

Cross currency swaps  

During the prior year, the Trust cancelled its cross currency swaps resulting in a realised gain of $15.7 million. 

Interest rate swaps 

The Trust entered into interest rate swaps agreements on 30 June 2009 totalling US$150 million that entitled the Trust to 
receive and pay fixed rates on the notional principal amount. The Trust received a fixed rate from 3.49% to 3.5% while it 
paid a fixed rate from 5.53% to 5.54% per annum. The interest rate swaps contracts had maturity dates ranging from July 
2017 to October 2017.   

On 13 May 2010, the Trust cancelled the interest rate swaps resulting in a loss of $25.1 million being recognised in the 
Income Statement. As at 30 June 2010, the Trust has no interest rate swaps.  

As a result of the DDR redemption, five interest rate swaps with a fair value of US$25.2 million were consolidated by EDT 
from 19 October 2009. The interest rate swaps totalling US$514.8 million had maturity dates ranging from 17 November 
2010 to 2 June 2014. During the period, the interest rate swaps were cancelled resulting in a loss of $39.0 million being 
recognised in the Income Statement. As at 30 June 2010, the controlled entities have no interest rate swaps.  

Callable interest rate swaps 

In a prior period the Trust entered into interest rate swap agreements totalling US$50 million that entitled the Trust to 
receive interest at a floating rate on a notional principal amount and obliged it to pay interest at a fixed rate on the same 
amount. The counterparties had the option to cancel these swaps at the end of each quarter. The interest rate swap 
contracts had a maturity date of August 2014.  

During the year, the Trust cancelled the callable swaps resulting in a loss of $6.3 million being recognised in the Income 
Statement. As at 30 June 2010, the Trust has no callable interest rate swaps.  
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14. Interest bearing liabilities 

2010 2009

$’000 $’000

Secured Loans

Current

Borrowings               300,361  - 

Less: Unamortised transaction costs (2,248) -

              298,113 -

Non-current
Borrowings               717,430                        -  

Less: Unamortised transaction costs (7,988)                        -  

              709,442                        -  

               Con so l idate d

 

Unsecured Loans

Current

Borrowings -                   1,456 

Less: Unamortised transaction costs - (160)

- 1,296  

As a result of the DDR redemption, the interest bearing liabilities of $1.05 billion held in US LLC and US REIT I were 
consolidated into EDT from 19 October 2009. 

The debt facilities held in the US LLC are secured by registered charges over investment properties. 

At 30 June 2010, total interest bearing liabilities on a ‘look through’ basis were $1,204 million (2009: $1,449 million) with a 
total facility limit of $1,204 million (2009: $1,449 million). Refer to note 22(d) for the Trust’s debt maturity profile.  

 (b) Secured liabilities and assets pledged as security 

The carrying amounts of assets pledged as security for current and non-current borrowings are: 

2010 2009

$’000 $’000

Current

Investment properties               432,663                        -  

Non-current

Investment properties            1,075,387                        -  

           1,508,050                        -  

               Con so l idate d

 

 

 

 

 

 



EDT Retail Trust (formerly known as Macquarie DDR Trust) 

Directors’ declaration to unitholders 
for year ended 30 June 2010 
  
 
 
 

PAGE 43 

15. Contributed equity 

2010 2009

$’000 $’000

Balance at the beginning of the year               945,040 939,657

DRP issue  - 5,394

Placement                   9,479 -

Entitlement Offer               198,858 -

Equity issue costs (11,621) (11)

Ba lance a t the  end of  the  year            1,141,756 945,040

2010 2009

Units on issue at the beginning of the year        943,203,042 929,460,855

DRP issue*  - 13,742,187

Placement**        141,480,000 -

Entitlement offer     3,615,607,826 -

Units on issue a t the  end of  the  year     4,700,290,868 943,203,042

* The DRP units were issued on 26 August 2008 but were entitled to income from 1 July 2008

**Units were issued to the Cornerstone Investor EPN GP, LLC

               Con so l idate d

               Con so l idate d

 

As stipulated in the Trust Constitution, each unit represents a right to an individual share in the Trust and does not extend 
to a right to the underlying assets of the Trust. There are no separate classes of units and each unit has the same rights 
attaching to it as all other units in the Trust. 

Each unit confers the right to vote at meetings of unitholders, subject to any voting restrictions imposed on a unitholder 
under the Corporations Act 2001. 

On 7 May 2010 the Trust invited its unitholders to subscribe to a rights issue of 3,615,607,826 units at an issue price of 
$0.055 per unit on the basis of 10 units for every 3 existing units held, with such units being issued on 18 June 2010. 

Distribution reinvestment plan  

The Trust has established a DRP under which unitholders may elect to have all or part of their distribution entitlements 
satisfied by the issue of new units rather than being paid in cash. As permitted under the DRP Rules, the directors of the 
Responsible Entity suspended the Trust’s DRP commencing with the quarter ended 30 September 2006. The DRP was 
reinstated from the quarter ended 30 June 2008. As per note 5, the Trust has not declared any distributions for the years 
ended 30 June 2010 and 30 June 2009. 
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16. Reserves 

 

2010 2009

$’000 $’000

Fore ign currency transla tion reserve

Opening balance (133,487) (266,151)

Exchange rate differences on translation of foreign operations (17,542) 206,152

Movement in fair value of effective net investment hedges - (73,488)

Closing balance (151,029) (133,487)

Capita l reserve

Opening balance (3,212) (3,212)

Closing balance (3,212) (3,212)

Cash f low hedge rese rve

Opening balance (28,818) (19,144)

Movement in effective cash flow hedges 12,547 (9,674)

Closing balance (16,271) (28,818)

Tota l  reserves (170,512) (165,517)

               Con so l idate d

 

  

Nature and purpose of reserves 

Foreign currency translation reserve 

Exchange differences arising on translation of the interest in jointly controlled entities and controlled entities are taken to the 
foreign currency translation reserve, as described in note 1(t). 

Capital reserve 

The capital reserve represents the amounts transferred to the reserve for pari pasu distribution.  

Cash flow hedge reserve 

The cash flow hedge reserve is used to record gains or losses on a hedging instrument in a cash flow hedge that are 
recognised directly in equity, as described in note 1(j). Amounts are recognised in profit or loss when the associated 
hedged transaction affects profit or loss.  

 

17. Accumulated losses 

 

2010 2009

$’000 $’000

Accumula ted losses

Realised items 25,257 85,540

Investment property revaluations (463,451) (463,455)

Unrealised derivative revaluations 14,767 (48,813)

Other unrealised items (1,633) 5,080

Tota l  accumula ted losses (425,060) (421,648)

               Con so l idate d
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18. Net tangible assets 

2010 2009

$’000 $’000

Total tangible assets 1,582,694 406,602

Less: Total liabilities (1,036,410) (48,727)

Less: non-controlling interests (100) -

Net tangible  asse ts 546,184 357,875

Total number of units on issue 4,700,290,868 943,203,042

Net tangible asset backing per unit $0.12 $0.38

               Con so l idate d

 

 

19. Tax liabilities 

Capital gains on the future sales of the Trust’s investments are subject to US withholding tax pursuant to the Foreign 
Investment in Real Property Tax Act, at a withholding tax rate of 35%. If the capital gain is not distributed, but the proceeds 
from the disposal are reinvested in a qualifying asset, the tax payable can be deferred and ‘rolled over’ into the tax cost 
base of the qualifying asset. Refer to note 1(p). All deferred tax movements meeting recognition criteria are recorded 
through the Income Statement.  

Due to the difference between the tax cost base and carrying value of the investment property at 30 June 2010, a deferred 
tax asset of $63.5 million (2009: $71 million) could be recognised. Due to the uncertainty over the recoverability of this 
deferred tax asset, this balance has not been recognised at 30 June 2010 or 30 June 2009.  

 

20. Significant contract terms and conditions 

If the Responsible Entity is removed, or there is a change in control of DDR or the US REITs or other defined events occur, 
then DDR or the US REITs may exercise its pre-emptive right to acquire the properties held by the jointly controlled entities 
at fair market value.  
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21. Cash flow information 

  

2010 2009

$’000 $’000

Loss (3,410) (616,356)

Non-cash items
Share of jointly controlled entities net loss / (profit) less distributions 9,713 (21,018)

Property valuation losses 99 781,482

Unrealised gain on derivatives (63,582)  - 

Loss on sale of investment property 344  - 

Exchange rate differences on translation 5,597 (576)

Classified as financing activities
Interest paid 48,324 375

Changes in assets and liabilities
Decrease/(increase) in assets

4,029 (432)

Increase / (decrease) in liabilities

Payables 3,735 (4,220)

(5,626) 38,656
Deferred tax liability - (147,780)

Net cash f lows f rom opera ting activ ities (777) 30,131

               Con so l idate d

( a )  Reconc i l ia tion of  prof i t /  ( loss)  to ne t cash f lows f rom operating ac tivi ties

      Derivative financial instruments not recognised in the foreign currency 
      translation reserve

      Receivables

 

The following items are not reflected in the Statement of Cash Flows

- 5,394

(b)  Non-cash f inanc ing and investing ac tivi ties

Distributions by the Trust satisfied during the financial year by the 
issue of units under DRP

 

Interest in US LLC as jointly controlled entity prior to consolidation 338,994 -

Cash 33,038 -
Receivables 26,492 -
Other assets 8,004 -
Investment properties 1,367,199 -
Derivative financial instruments (27,168) -
Payables (23,674) -
Interest bearing liabilities (1,046,621) -
Net assets of US LLC on consolidation 337,270 -
Cash received by EDT upon DDR redemption 1,724 -

-
Cash received by EDT upon DDR redemption 1,724 -
Cash of US LLC 33,038 -
Net cash acquired upon consolidation of US LLC 34,762 -

(c )  Obta in ing control of  subsidia ry
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22. Capital and financial risk management 

(a) Capital risk management 

The Trust’s objectives when managing capital is to optimise unitholder value through the mix of available capital 
sources whilst complying with statutory and constitutional capital and distribution requirements, maintaining gearing 
and interest cover ratios within approved limits and continuing to operate as a going concern.  

The Trust assesses its capital management approach as a key part of the Trust’s overall strategy and it is 
continuously reviewed by management and the board. 

The Trust is able to alter its capital mix by issuing new units, activating the DRP, electing to have the DRP 
underwritten, adjusting the amount of distributions paid, activating a unit buy-back programme or selling assets to 
reduce borrowings.  

 The Trust has a target gearing of 45% to 55% calculated as total liabilities to total assets on a ‘look through’ basis. 
In calculating ‘look though’ gearing, the Trust’s interests in jointly controlled entities are proportionately consolidated 
based on the Trust’s ownership percentage. At 30 June 2010, gearing was 69.4% (2009: 81.2%). 

The Trust now has capital hedging in place in the form of natural hedging. All borrowings of the Group are 
denominated in USD which is financed by net property income also denominated in USD.  

Subsidiaries and jointly controlled entities obtain property insurance with creditworthy insurers in order to protect the 
Group’s assets.  

 (b) Financial risk management 

The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise cash and cash equivalents, receivables, payables and interest 
bearing liabilities.   

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (currency risk and interest rate risk), liquidity 
risk and credit risk.  

The Group manages its exposure to these financial risks in accordance with the Trust’s Financial Risk Management 
(FRM) policy as approved by the board.  

The policy sets out the Trust’s approach to managing financial risks, the policies and controls utilised to minimise the 
potential impact of these risks on its performance and the roles and responsibilities of those involved in the 
management of these financial risks. 

The Group uses various measures to manage exposures to these types of risks. The main methods include foreign 
exchange and interest rate sensitivity analysis, ageing analysis of debtors and counterparty credit assessment and 
the use of future rolling cash flow forecasts. 

The Group uses derivative financial instruments such as forward foreign exchange contracts and interest rate swaps 
to manage its financial risk as permitted under the FRM policy. Such instruments are used exclusively for hedging 
purposes, i.e. not for trading for speculative purposes. 

(c) Market risk 

Foreign exchange risk 

Foreign exchange risk is the risk that changes in foreign exchange rates will change the Australian dollar value of the 
Group’s net assets or its Australian dollar earnings.  Foreign exchange risk arises when future commercial 
transactions and recognised assets and liabilities are denominated in a currency that is not the Trust’s functional 
currency. 

The Group is exposed to foreign exchange risk through investing in overseas investment property and deriving rental 
income from those properties. The Group manages this exposure on a ‘look though’ basis including those held 
through jointly controlled entities.   
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22. Capital and financial risk management (continued) 

(c) Market risk (continued) 

Foreign investment 

The table below sets out the Group’s US dollar exposure, and how, through the use of debt, this exposure is 
reduced. It also provides an analysis of the effect of reasonably possible movements of the US dollar against the 
Australian dollar, with all other variables held constant. A negative amount in the table reflects a potential net 
reduction in profit or equity, while a positive amount reflects a net potential increase. The US dollar amounts in the 
table below have been converted to Australian dollars at the year-end exchange rate.  

2010 2009 2010 2009

$'000s $'000s $'000s $'000s

Asse ts

Cash and cash equivalents                   3,893 30                 35,369 928

Receivables and other assets                      451 577                 30,630 110

Interest in jointly controlled entties                        -                          -                     4,300 404,957

Investment properties                        -                          -              1,508,050                        -  

Tota l assets                   4,344 607            1,578,349 405,995

Liabi l i t ies

Payables                      824 494                 28,034 1,292

Derivative financial instruments                        -                   11,148                        -                   34,497 

Interest bearing liabilities                        -                          -              1,007,555                   1,296 

Tota l l iabi l i t ies                      824 11,642            1,035,589 37,085

Net assets                   3,520 (11,035)               542,760 368,910

Notional value of derivatives to hedge foreign exchange 
exposure                        -                          -                          -                          -  
Ne t exposure  to fore ign exchange movements                   3,520 (11,035)               542,760 368,910

        Australian dollar exposure          US dollar exposure

 
 

The sensitivity of the Group to foreign exchange rate movements is shown in the table below: 

2010 2009 2010 2009 2010 2009

$'000s $'000s $'000s $'000s $'000s $'000s

AUD:USD - AUD increase 10% (255) 3,159 (4,576)                      -   (49,342) (33,537)

AUD:USD - AUD decrease 10% 312 (3,475)                5,593                      -   60,307 40,990

   Profit    Core earnings    Total equity movement

 
Foreign income 

Through investing in overseas assets, the Group earns foreign denominated income. Net rental income derived is 
naturally offset by local denominated expenses including interest and tax. 

Until January 2009, The Group used forward foreign exchange contracts to convert net foreign denominated 
currency exposure back to Australian dollars at predetermined rates out into the future. As discussed in note 13, 
offsetting contracts were taken out on 9 January 2009.  

The majority of the Group’s forecast profits for the next four years are in USD. The Group is however partially hedged 
to the extent that all borrowings and the majority of expenses are in USD. 
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22. Capital and financial risk management (continued) 

(c) Market risk (continued) 

Interest rate risk 

Interest rate risk is the risk that changes in market interest rates will impact the earnings of the Group. 

The Group is exposed to interest rate risk predominantly through borrowings. The Group manages this exposure on 
a ‘look through’ basis including the borrowings of jointly controlled entities. The Group applies benchmark hedging 
bands across its differing interest rate exposures and utilises interest rate swaps, to exchange floating interest rates 
to fixed interest rates, to manage its exposure between these bands. Compliance with the policy is reviewed 
regularly by management and is reported to the board each meeting. 

The Group has exposures to interest rate risk on its monetary assets and liabilities. During the period this was 
mitigated by the use of interest rate swaps which were closed out in June 2010. The table demonstrates the 
sensitivity to reasonably possible changes in interest rates, with all other variables held constant. A negative amount 
in the table reflects a potential net reduction in profit, core earnings or equity, while a positive amount reflects a net 
potential increase. 

2010 2009 2010 2009

$'000s $'000s $'000s $'000s

Fixed rate

Interest bearing liabilities - - (754,729) (1,012,328)

Total fixed rate - - (754,729) (1,012,328)

Floating rates

Cash and cash equivalents 3,893 30 35,369 928

Interest bearing liabilities - - (252,826) (432,105)

Total floating rate (before interest rate swaps) 3,893 30 (217,457) (431,177)

Interest rate swaps - - - 61,975

Net f loating interest rate exposure 3,893 30 (217,457) (369,202)

   Australian interest rates    US interest rates

Con sol idate d

 

          The sensitivity of the Group to interest rate movements is shown in the table below: 

2010 2009 2010 2009 2010 2009

$'000s $'000s $'000s $'000s $'000s $'000s

1.0% p.a increase in AUD rates 39 267 39 - - 267

1.0% p.a decrease in AUD rates (39) (267) (39) - - (267)

1.0% p.a increase in USD rates (2,175) 12,617 (2,175) (3,692) 11 16,309

1.0% p.a decrease in USD rates 2,175 (12,617) 2,175 3,692 (11) (16,309)

     Profit   Core earnings   Total equity movement

Consol ida ted

 
At balance date, the consolidated entity has fixed 80.9% (2009: 74.5%) of its net interest exposure. 
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22. Capital and financial risk management (continued) 

(d) Liquidity risk 

Liquidity risk arises if the Group has insufficient liquid assets to meet its short-term obligations. Liquidity risk is 
managed by maintaining sufficient cash balances and adequate committed credit facilities. Prudent liquidity 
management implies maintaining sufficient cash and marketable securities, the availability of funding through an 
adequate amount of committed credit facilities and the ability to close out market positions. The instruments entered 
into by the Group were selected to ensure sufficient funds would be available to meet the ongoing cash 
requirements of the Group.  

The following tables provide the contractual maturity of the Group’s fixed and floating rate financial liabilities as at 30 
June 2010. The amounts presented represent the future contractual undiscounted principal and interest cash flows 
and may not equate to the value shown in the Statement of Financial Position. Repayments that are subject to notice 
are treated as if notice were given immediately.  

 

30 June 2010 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

F in an cial  l iab i l i t ie s

Payables 28,855 28,855 - - - - - 28,855

Interest bearing liabilities 1,017,792 344,799 177,810 285,945 20,392 20,392 320,452 1,169,790

To tal  u n discou n te d fin an cial  l iab i l i t ie s  1,046,647    373,654   177,810   285,945     20,392     20,392   320,452 1,198,645 

30 June 2009 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Financ ia l l iabi l i t ies

Payables 1,786 1,786 - - - - - 1,786
Interest bearing liabilities 1,296 1,477            -   - - - - 1,477
Derivative financial instruments* 45,645 45,645 - - - - - 45,645
Tota l  undiscounted f inanc ia l l iabi l i t ies       48,727      48,908            -              -              -              -              -        48,908 

1 to 2 
years

2 to 3 
years

3 to 4 
years

4 to 5 
years

4 to 5 
years

Over 5 
years

Total

Total

Over 5 
years

Con so l idate d Book 
value

Less than 
1 year

1 to 2 
years

2 to 3 
years

3 to 4 
years

Book 
value

Less than 
1 year

 

*  The derivative financial instruments at 30 June 2009 included callable interest rate swaps where the counterparties 
had the option to cancel the swaps at the end of each quarter.  
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22. Capital and financial risk management (continued) 

(d) Liquidity risk (continued) 

The table below shows the debt maturity profile of the Group on a ‘look through’ basis: 

2010 2009

$’000 $’000

Less than 1 year 394,683 717,511

1 to 2 years 141,167 147,037

2 to 3 years 257,647 159,277

3 to 4 years 92,274 7,863

4 to 5 years - 98,284

More than 5 years 318,616 319,115

Total debt before unamortised borrowing costs 1,204,387 1,449,087

Borrowing costs to be amortised (10,236) (4,654)

Total debt after unamortised borrowing costs 1,194,151 1,444,433  
As at 30 June 2010, total interest bearing liabilities before unamortised borrowing costs are $1,204 million 
(2009:$1,449 million) with total facilities of $1,204 million (2009: $1,449 million).  

 (e) Credit risk 

Credit risk is the risk that a contracting entity will not complete its obligations under a financial instrument and cause 
the Group to make a financial loss. The Group has exposure to credit risk on all of its financial assets included in the 
Group’s Statement of Financial Position.   

For derivative financial instruments and cash, there is only a credit risk where the contracting entity is liable to pay the 
Group in the event of a close out. The Group had policies that limit the amount of credit exposure to any one 
financial institution. Derivative counterparties and cash transactions are limited to investment grade counterparties in 
accordance with the Trust’s FRM policy. The Group monitors the public credit rating of its counterparties. 

The controlled entities manage credit risk exposure from trade receivables by performing credit reviews of 
prospective tenants, obtaining tenant collateral where appropriate and performing detailed reviews on tenant arrears.  

In addition to the credit exposure shown above, the Group has an indirect credit exposure relating to the assets held 
by its jointly controlled entities. The jointly controlled entities manage this risk by performing credit reviews of 
prospective tenants, obtaining tenant collateral where appropriate and performing detailed reviews on tenant arrears.  

As at 30 June 2010, the Trust’s share of the trade debtors of the jointly controlled entities are $1,308,837 (2009: 
$13,805,448) and the provision held against these is $388,990 (2009: $3,560,884). 

(f) Fair value measurements 

The carrying amounts of trade receivables and payables are assumed to approximate their fair values due to their 
short-term nature. The fair value of financial liabilities for disclosure purposes is estimated by discounting the future 
contractual cash flows at the current market interest rate that is available to the Group for similar financial 
instruments. The fair value of borrowings approximates the carrying amount, as the impact of discounting is not 
significant. 
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23. Related party disclosures 

(a) Directors  

The following persons were directors of the Responsible Entity during the financial year: 
— Steven Guttman 
— David Spruell  
— David Oakes 
— Daniel Hurwitz 
— Alexander Berman (appointed 18 June 2010) 
— Karlis Cerbulis (appointed 18 June 2010) 
— Gregory Katz (appointed 18 June 2010) 
— Zvi Maayan (appointed 18 June 2010) 
— David Machloof (appointed 18 June 2010) 
— Luke Petherbridge (appointed 18 June 2010) 
— Simon Jones (resigned 18 June 2010) 
— Stephen Girdis (resigned 18 June 2010) 
— Scott Wolstein (resigned 18 June 2010) 
— Richard Sheppard (resigned 18 June 2010) 
— Robert Joss (resigned 18 June 2010) 
— Joan Allgood (alternate for Daniel Hurwitz)  
— John Wright (alternate for Richard Sheppard, Mark Baillie and Stephen Girdis) (resigned 19 March 2010). 

Compliance fees and board audit committee fees totalling $118,000 (2009: $118,000) were paid or payable by the 
Trust to the independent directors, Steven Guttman, Robert Joss and David Spruell, for the financial year. These 
amounts are reviewed from time to time in consultation with external experts to ensure that remuneration reflects the 
service expected to be performed. 

(b)  Responsible entity 

The Responsible Entity of EDT Retail Trust (formerly known as Macquarie DDR Trust) is EDT Retail Management 
Limited (formerly known as Macquarie DDR Management Limited),a wholly owned subsidiary of EDT Management 
LLC, a company incorporated in Delaware and from 18 June 2010, ultimately owned 50% by EPN GP LLC and 50% 
by Developers Diversified Realty (DDR). The Responsible Entity's registered office and principal place of business is 1 
Martin Place, Sydney, NSW 2000.  

 (c) Parent entity 

The parent entity of the Group is EDT Retail Trust (formerly known as Macquarie DDR Trust). 
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23. Related party disclosures (continued) 

(d) Transactions with related parties 

A Macquarie Group Limited (MGL) subsidiary owned 50% of ERML’s parent entity up until 18 June 2010 at which 
point the 50% interest was sold to EPN. The remaining 50% of ERML continues to be held by DDR. 

The Trust has paid or accrued as payable $220,000 (2009: $215,000) to MGL for the reimbursement of accounting 
services provided to the Trust for the year ended 30 June 2010.  

MGL executed foreign exchange transactions for the Trust during the year. Foreign exchange transactions were 
executed at market rates including any applicable margins. During the year the Trust also cancelled the remaining 
foreign exchange hedging contracts that were in place, this resulted in a payment to MGL for $11,060,539 (2009: 
$nil). 

The Group had funds totalling $4,746,495 (2009: $957,767) in operating bank accounts with MGL at 30 June 2010. 
The Group earned interest at commercial rates. Interest income from these accounts totalling $105,764 (2009: 
$119,218) is included in the determination of profit for the Group for the year ended 30 June 2010. 

The Group paid Macquarie Investment Management Limited $774 (2009: $3,503) for the provision of call centre 
services during the year.  

MGL and related entities of MGL held 1,300,000 units as at 30 June 2010 (2009: 16,410,795 units). DDR and 
related entities of DDR held 4,590,000 units as at 30 June 2010 (2009: 93,301,647 units). EPN and related entities 
of EPN held 2,247,828,466 units as at 30 June 2010. 

The Trust received distributions from US REIT I and US REIT II in the current and prior financial years. 

DDR received fees for providing property management, construction management, leasing and maintenance 
services of US$10,358,017 (2009: US$12,372,342) during the year. These fees are received under the terms of the 
Property Management and Leasing Agreements.  

DDR provides tax preparation services to the US LLCs (being US LLC, PS LLC and MV LLC) and the US REITs. 
During the year, the US LLCs and the US REITs recorded US$95,985 and US$36,500 respectively (2009: 
US$48,075 and US$36,500) for taxation fees paid or payable to DDR. 

DDR provides legal and other professional services to the US LLCs and the US REITs. During the year, the US LLCs 
and the US REITs recorded US$214,695 and US$nil respectively (2009: US$342,358 and US$nil) for legal fees paid 
or payable to DDR. 

DDR received disposition fees totalling US$779,760 (2009: US$nil) during the year. MBL received disposition fees of 
US$227,500 (2009: US$nil) during the year. These fees are received under the terms of the Partnership Agreement. 
Disposition fees are for arranging the sale of any property by the US LLCs to a third party and are calculated as 1% 
of the sale price of such property.  

MGL received a US$175,000 (2009: $nil) and DDR received a US$75,000 (2009: $nil) Bison loan extension fee from 
US LLC. This fee was calculated as approximately 0.25% of the outstanding loan balance at the time of the 
extension. 

Macquarie Capital Advisers Limited received a success based fee for the work undertaken as part of the Strategic 
Review announced in December 2008. For the year ended 30 June 2010, Macquarie Capital Advisers Limited 
received $533,236 (2009: $nil). Macquarie Capital Advisers Limited is owned 100% by MGL. 

Macquarie Capital Advisers Limited received an advisory and an underwriting fee for the work undertaken as part of 
the capital raising transaction in June 2010 of $2,310,000 and $5,951,833 respectively.  

The above fees and transactions were all based on market rates and on normal commercial terms and conditions 
and have been approved by the directors of the Responsible Entity (excluding those directors that are related to the 
counterparty of the related party transaction being approved). 
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23. Related party disclosures (continued) 

 (e) Base fee and performance fee 

Under the terms of the Trust Constitution, the Responsible Entity is entitled to receive the following remuneration 
from the Trust, comprising a base fee and a performance fee: 

The base fee is calculated at 0.45% per annum of the Trust’s interest in the fair market value of the properties and 
any other assets in the US LLCs.  

The base fee is calculated six monthly and is paid quarterly in arrears with the first quarterly payment being a part 
payment on account for the six-month period. 

The base fee payable to the Responsible Entity is reduced to the extent that management fees are paid or payable 
to the US Manager under the relevant operating agreements. 

In addition to the base fee, the Responsible Entity is entitled to a performance fee, payable in Trust units and/or 
shares in the US REITs (REIT Performance Shares) or in cash in certain circumstances, where the performance of 
the Trust in any six-month period ending 30 June or 31 December exceeds that of the S&P/ASX 200 Property 
Accumulation Index (Index). 

If the Trust’s performance during the six-month period is higher than the percentage increase in the Index for the 
relevant period, then the Responsible Entity is entitled to new Trust units or REIT Performance Shares with a total 
value equal to: 

(i) 5% of the total Increased Unitholder Value from outperformance; plus  

(ii) 15% of the Increased Unitholder Value above 2% nominal outperformance per annum (1% per half year).  

The Increased Unitholder Value is measured as the market capitalisation of the Trust at the commencement of the 
relevant period, multiplied by the nominal percentage outperformance of the Trust relative to the Index for that 
period.  

The performance fee is calculated and payable, if entitled, each half year at December and June. The first 
performance fee period was from 26 November 2003 to 30 June 2004. Units and/or REIT Performance Shares 
issued in satisfaction of the performance fee (if any) are subject to an annual cap, whereby total base and 
performance fees paid in any one year must not exceed 80 basis points of the Trust’s interest in the fair market value 
of the properties and other assets in the US LLCs (Cap Calculation Assets). Where REIT Performance Shares are 
issued, the annual cap is calculated using the US dollar value of the Cap Calculation Assets. Any performance fees 
which have been unable to be satisfied by the issue of units and/or REIT Performance Shares because of the 
operation of the cap, will be able to be issued on the three-year anniversary of the end of the period in which they 
were earned, or any time thereafter if the accumulated performance of the Trust for the three-year (or longer) period 
exceeds the benchmark return for the same period. Any unpaid fees will continue to be paid up to 80 basis points in 
any future period. 

Any performance fee payable to the Responsible Entity is reduced to the extent that performance fees are received 
by the US Manager under the relevant operating agreements. 

The Responsible Entity / US Manager total base and performance fees for the financial year is detailed as follows: 

2010 2009

$’000 $’000

Base fee 7,295                 10,071 

Performance fee                        -                          -  

7,295 10,071

               Con so l idate d

 
No performance fee was earned by the Responsible Entity during the year. In the calculation of the performance fee, 
outperformance will be assessed on a cumulative basis and accordingly, underperformance for the period from 26 
November 2003 to 30 June 2010 will need to be recovered before the Responsible Entity is entitled to any future 
performance fees. 
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23. Related party disclosures (continued) 

(e) Base fee and performance fee (continued) 

The Trust does not provide any other benefits to the Responsible Entity or directors of the Responsible Entity other 
than those described in note 23. 

 (f) Key management personnel and remuneration 

Key management personnel (KMP) are defined in AASB 124 Related Party Disclosures as those having authority and 
responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the entity. The Responsible Entity meets the 
definition of KMP as it has this authority in relation to the activities of the Trust. These powers have not been 
delegated by the Responsible Entity to any other person. Accordingly, the Chief Executive Officer (CEO) of the Trust 
is not considered to be KMP as he does not have sufficient individual authority and responsibility for planning, 
directing and controlling the activities of the Trust. 

Details of management fees charged to the Trust by the Responsible Entity and its related entities are included in 
note 23(e). 

No payments were made by the Trust or by the Responsible Entity on behalf of the Trust to the executive directors 
or the CEO during the year. 

(g) Directors’ interest in Trust units  

The number of units held directly, indirectly or beneficially by the directors of the Responsible Entity or their director 
related entities are: 
 Units held  Units held 

 2010 2009 

   

Steven Guttman 693,333 160,000 

David Spruell 1,053,168 243,039 

David Oakes - - 

Daniel Hurwitz - - 

Alexander Berman (appointed 18 June 2010) - n/a 

Karlis Cerbulis (appointed 18 June 2010) - n/a 

Gregory Katz (appointed 18 June 2010) - n/a 

Zvi Maayan (appointed 18 June 2010) - n/a 

David Machloof (appointed 18 June 2010) - n/a 

Luke Petherbridge (appointed 18 June 2010) - n/a 

Simon Jones (resigned 18 June 2010) n/a - 

Stephen Girdis (resigned 18 June 2010) n/a 239,662 

Scott Wolstein (resigned 18 June 2010) n/a 100,000 

Richard Sheppard (resigned 18 June 2010) n/a 1,566,775 

Robert Joss (resigned 18 June 2010) n/a 250,000 

Joan Allgood (alternate for Daniel Hurwitz) - - 

John Wright (alternate for Richard Sheppard and Stephen Girdis) (resigned 19 March 2010) n/a 120,000 
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23. Related party disclosures (continued)  

(g) Directors’ interest in Trust units (continued) 

The aggregate number of units of the Trust acquired or disposed of by the directors of the Responsible Entity or their 
director related entities was: 
  Units  Units 

 2010 2009 

Acquisitions   

Richard Sheppard - 554,775 

Steven Guttman 533,333 100,000 

David Spruell 810,129 12,478 

John Wright - 100,000 

There were no disposals during the year ended 30 June 2010. 

No options in the Trust are held by directors of the Responsible Entity. 

 

24. Segment information 

The directors of the Responsible Entity have determined the operating segments based on the reports reviewed by 
the chief operating decision maker, being the board of the Responsible Entity.  

The board considers the business from the aspect of each core portfolio and the Trust operations and has identified 
3 operating segments. The segments are: MV LLC investment properties (Single Box Portfolio), shopping centres, 
and other operations. Other operations include all non property related activities including derivative financial 
instruments, debt, expenses, and minority interests. 

The operating segment note discloses each core portfolio in both their respective local currencies and in Australian 
dollars. The other operations are presented in Australian dollars only. This information is presented on a ‘look 
through’ basis. The term ‘look through’ refers to assets, liabilities, revenue, and expenses of the controlled entities 
and the assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses held through jointly controlled entities. The value of assets, liabilities, 
revenue, and expenses held in jointly controlled entities are included based on the Trust’s ownership percentage. 
This is consistent with the manner in which the information is presented to the board in its capacity as chief 
operating decision maker. Total segment assets and total segment liabilities have been reconciled to total assets and 
total liabilities reported in the Statement of Financial Position.  

 



EDT Retail Trust (formerly known as Macquarie DDR Trust) 

Directors’ declaration to unitholders 
for year ended 30 June 2010 
  
 
 
 

PAGE 57 

24. Segment information (continued) 

Single Box Shopping 
Portfolio Centres Other Total

Segment resu lt $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Year ending 30 June  2010

Net property income (USD) (1,551) 99,670 - 98,119

Net property income (AUD) (1,939) 112,455 - 110,516

Interest income 13 (18) 115 110

Interest expense (3,752) (63,507) (56) (67,315)

Management base fees (301) (6,992) - (7,293)
Administration/other expenses (309) (5,563) (3,333) (9,205)
Loss on derivatives - - (2,288) (2,288)
Realised foreign currency loss - - (1,470) (1,470)

Mervyns investment adjustment * 6,288 - - 6,288

Withholding tax expense - - (941) (941)

Core earnings - 36,375 (7,973) 28,402

Year ending 30 June  2009

Net property income (USD) 9,446 118,611 - 128,057
Net property income (AUD) 12,166 162,084 - 174,250
Interest income 215 104 119 438
Interest expense (8,655) (74,911) (6,071) (89,637)
Management base fees (908) (9,163) - (10,071)
Administration/other expenses (730) (7,238) (2,149) (10,117)
Gain on derivatives - - 4,836 4,836
Realised foreign currency gain - - 518 518
Withholding tax expense - - (1,374) (1,374)
Core  earnings 2,088 70,876 (4,121) 68,843

* Adjustment to add back the non-cash equity accounted losses (excluding property valuation losses and amortisation of borrowing costs 

which have been adjusted separately) associated with the Single Box Portfolio. The investment in this portfolio was equity accounted to

nil in the six months ended 31 December 2009 and there is no obligation to provide further funding of this portfolio.  

The Trust has investments in retail properties located in the United States and investments in other assets in Australia.  

Core earnings is a financial measure that is not prescribed by Australian Accounting Standards and represents the net profit 
under Australian Accounting Standards adjusted for certain unrealised and non-cash items, reserve transfers and significant 
one-off items that are not in the ordinary course of business. In addition to profit determined in accordance with Australian 
Accounting Standards, core earnings is a key measure used for internal reporting purposes. 
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24. Segment information (continued) 

A reconciliation of core earnings to the loss for the financial year is provided as follows: 
 

2010 2009

$’000 $’000

Loss for the  year (3,410) (616,356)

Property valuation losses 4,923 781,482

Mervyns investment adjustment* 6,115 -

Unrealised (gain) / loss on derivative financial instruments (63,582) 52,296

Unrealised foreign exchange (gains) / losses (75) 36,051

One off realised foreign exchange gain on recapitalisation** (6,619) -

US capital gains tax benefit - (184,593)

Amortisation of borrowing costs 7,096 1,198

Straightlining of fixed rent increases 204 429

Realised loss / (gain) on derivatives close out 82,544 (15,675)

US capital gains tax paid on sale of investment property - 6,107

Realised loss on sale of investment property 1,206 7,904

Core earnings 28,402 68,843

* Adjustment to add back the non-cash equity accounted losses (excluding property valuation losses and amortisation of borrowing costs 

which have been adjusted separately) associated with the Single Box Portfolio. The investment in this portfolio was equity accounted to

nil in the six months ended 31 December 2009 and there is no obligation to provide further funding of this portfolio.

** One off realised foreign exchange gain when hedging AUD denominated entitlement offer proceeds which were subsequently used to 

repay USD denominated liabilities  
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24. Segment information (continued) 
 

Single Box Shopping 

Portfolio Centres Other Total

Segment assets and l iabi l i t ies $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

As at 30 June  2010

Investment properties 82,968 1,603,607 - 1,686,575

Other assets 14,083 67,816 5,344 87,243

Total segment assets 97,051 1,671,423 5,344 1,773,818

Less: Liabilities of jointly controlled entities (108,012) (94,073) - (202,085)

Add back: Mervyn's net asset deficiency* 10,961 - - 10,961

Total assets - 1,577,350 5,344 1,582,694

Total segment liabilities 108,012 1,129,498 985 1,238,495

Less: Liabilities of jointly controlled entities (108,012) (94,073) - (202,085)

Total liabilities - 1,035,425 985 1,036,410

As at 30 June  2009

Investment properties 214,982 1,572,927 - 1,787,909

Other assets 44,599 64,257 1,645 110,501

Total segment assets 259,581 1,637,184 1,645 1,898,410

Less: Liabilities of jointly controlled entities (246,923) (1,244,885) - (1,491,808)

Total assets 12,658 392,299 1,645 406,602

Total segment liabilities 246,923 1,244,885 48,727 1,540,535

Less: Liabilities of jointly controlled entities (246,923) (1,244,885) - (1,491,808)

Total liabilities - - 48,727 48,727  
* The investment in the MV LLC portfolio was equity accounted to nil in the six months ended 31 December 2009 and there is no obligation to  
provide further funding of this portfolio. 
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25. Parent entity financial information 

(a) Summary financial information 

The individual financial statements for the parent entity show the following aggregate amounts: 

2010 2009

$’000 $’000

Ba lance Sheet

Current assets                   5,343                   1,645 

Total assets               538,933               406,602 

Current liabilities                      985                 48,727 

Total liabilities                      985                 48,727 

Equity

Contributed equity            1,141,756 945,040

Accumulated losses (434,689) (421,648)

Reserves

   Capital Reserve (3,212) (3,212)

   Cash flow hedge reserve (15,228) (28,818)

   Foreign currency translation reserve (150,679) (133,487)

Tota l equity               537,948 357,875

Loss for the year (13,043) (616,356)

Total comprehensive loss for the year (16,644) (493,366)  
 

 (b) Contingent liabilities of the parent entity 
 
The parent entity did not have any contingent liabilities as at 30 June 2010 or 30 June 2009.  

26. Commitments  

The consolidated group has no commitments at the end of the financial year. 

27. Contingent liabilities 

The consolidated group has no contingent liabilities at the end of the financial year.  

28. Events occurring after reporting date  

Due to the likelihood of not being able to retrieve any equity value from the Single Box Portfolio and significant additional 
capital being required, the Trust, DDR and the loan servicer are now progressing to jointly request that a court appoint a 
third party receiver to manage and liquidate the remaining assets within the portfolio. There is no obligation for the Group to 
provide further equity to the lender or the joint venture. The Trust’s investment in the MV LLC joint venture entity was equity 
accounted to nil in the six months ended 31 December 2009. As a result, the Group no longer recognises further losses 
from this portfolio and the portfolio provides no contribution to the Group’s Net Tangible Assets (NTA).  

Subsequent to year end the Group has entered into a non-binding signed term sheet to refinance the existing Longhorn II 
facility with a long term facility. As at the date of this report these advanced negotiations are continuing. 

Since the end of the financial year, the directors of the Responsible Entity are not aware of any other matter or 
circumstance not otherwise dealt with in the financial statements that has significantly affected or may significantly affect 
the operations of the Group, the results of those operations or the state of affairs of the Group in financial years subsequent 
to the year ended 30 June 2010. 
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